Lehigh University Lehigh Preserve

Theses and Dissertations

2014

Geometric Quantization of Classical Metrics on the Moduli Space of Canonical Metrics

Yingying Zhang Lehigh University

Follow this and additional works at: http://preserve.lehigh.edu/etd Part of the <u>Mathematics Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Zhang, Yingying, "Geometric Quantization of Classical Metrics on the Moduli Space of Canonical Metrics" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 1689.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Lehigh Preserve. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Lehigh Preserve. For more information, please contact preserve@lehigh.edu.

Geometric Quantization of Classical Metrics on the Moduli Space of Canonical Metrics

by

Yingying Zhang

A Dissertation Presented to the Graduate Committee of Lehigh University in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

> Lehigh University May 2014

Copyright Yingying Zhang Approved and recommended for acceptance as a dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Yingying Zhang

Geometric Quantization of Classical Metrics on the Moduli Space of Canonical Metrics

Date

Prof. Huai-Dong Cao Cochair

Prof. Xiaofeng Sun Cochair

Accepted Date

Committee Members

Prof. Terrence Napier (Committee Member)

Prof. Justin Corvino (External Member)

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my Ph.D. advisors, Prof. Huai-Dong Cao and Prof. Xiaofeng Sun. My Ph.D. work would not have been finished without their significant inspiration, great patience, constant encouragement and generously sharing ideas.

I would like to thank to my committee members, Prof. Terrence Napier and Prof. Justin Corvino, for their many useful suggestions and great efforts of reviewing my dissertation.

I am grateful to Prof. Kefeng Liu for introducing the beautiful geometry world to me when I was in Zhejiang University. Many thanks to Prof. Daguang Chen for a lot of helpful discussions in math and Prof. Valentino Tosatti for his support.

I would like to thank all professors who introduced to me different branches of mathematics. I appreciate the Department of Mathematics at Lehigh University to provide me financial support during my graduate study.

I would also like to thank to Ms. Belinda(Yingbi) Zhang for her encouragement and helpful suggestions in my life and career. I am thankful for my fellow friends, Dr. Meng Zhu, Dr. Qiang Chen, Dr. Chenxu He, Dr. Fangliang Yin, Dr. Xiaokui Yang, Dr. Xiaorui Zhu. It was a lot of fun to discuss both mathematics and career plans with them. I also thank to my friends, Yan Liu, Yapeng Zhao, Juan Pablo Ortiz, Dr. Karen McCready, Dr. Kathleen Ryan for their help.

Lastly and most importantly, I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my mother Jirong Luan and my father Zongqi Zhang for their endless love.

Contents

Al	ostra	nct	1			
1	Deformation Theory of Complex Structures					
	1.1	Basic idea of analytic deformation theory	4			
	1.2	Existence of infinitesimal deformations	7			
	1.3	Completeness of the analytic family	11			
2	nplex Deformation on Fano Kähler-Einstein Manifolds	17				
	2.1	Deformation of complex structures on Fano manifolds and gauge				
		equivalence	18			
	2.2	Deformation of the volume form and the Kähler-Einstein form $\ . \ . \ .$	30			
	2.3	Deformation of plurianticanonical sections	37			
	2.4	L^2 -metric on the direct image sheaf $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	44			
	2.5	Deformation of holomorphic vector fields	54			
3	Pluri-subharmonicity of Harmonic Energy					
	3.1	Deformation of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type	60			
	3.2	First variation of harmonic energy	63			
	3.3	Second variation of harmonic energy	66			
Bi	Bibliography					
Vi	Vita					

Abstract

In this thesis, two topics will be studied. In the first part, we investigate the geometric quantization of the Weil-Petersson metric on the moduli space of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds. In the second part, we investigate the (weak) pseudo-convexity of the Teichmüller space of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type.

In Chapter 1, we review the (infinitesimal) deformation theory of complex structures on compact complex manifolds. Based on Hodge theory, the existence of (infinitesimal) deformations will be discussed in detail. In Chapter 2, we explore the deformation theory of complex structures on compact Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds with respect to the Kuranishi-divergence gauge. We also give the construction of local canonical sections of the relative tangent bundle. Based on these works, we show that the Weil-Petersson metric can be approximated by the curvatures of the natural L^2 metrics on the direct image of the tensor powers of relative anti-canonical bundles after normalization. In Chapter 3, we look at the Teichmüller space \mathcal{T} of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type whose complex structure is unobstructed. Let N be a Riemannian manifold with nonpositive sectional curvature. We prove that the harmonic energy from \mathcal{T} to N is pluri-subharmonic.

Chapter 1

Deformation Theory of Complex Structures

In this chapter, we first review the original idea of Kodaira and Spencer's deformation theory of complex structures on a compact complex manifold. In particular, we take a detailed look at how the Kuranishi gauge is used in the proof of the existence of an analytic family of complex structures. We will also mention the completeness theorem of the analytic family.

Definition 1.0.1 (Complex Manifold). Suppose X is a second countable, Hausdorff topological space. It is a complex manifold if the following properties are satisfied:

- 1 $X = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Lambda} (U_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha})$, where for all $\alpha \in \Lambda$, U_{α} is open in X, and $z_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \to z_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha}) \subset \mathbb{C}^{n}$ is homeomorphism.
- 2 $f_{\alpha\beta} = z_{\alpha} \circ z_{\beta}^{-1} : z_{\beta}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}) \to z_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta})$ is biholomorphic.

From now on, we only focus on compact complex manifolds. In this case, we can cover X by only finitely many coordinate charts. The complex structure is determined by the holomorphicity of the transition functions. Heuristically, on a given compact complex manifold $X = \{\bigcup_{\alpha \in \Lambda} (U_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}), f_{\alpha\beta}\}$, we fix the underlying smooth structure. If there is another complex structure on it, i.e. $X' = \{\bigcup_{\alpha \in \Lambda} (U'_{\alpha}, z'_{\alpha}), f'_{\alpha\beta}\}$, we expect that new complex structure could be obtained by shifting coordinate patchs of the previous one; from the viewpoint of sheaf theory, the deformation lies in the sheaf cohomology $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X))$.

If we consider the complexified tangent bundle $TX^{\mathbb{C}} = TX \otimes \mathbb{C}$, the complex structure is equivalent to the existence of a $J \in End(TX)$ such that $J^2 = -1$ and J satisfies integrability condition, i.e. Nijenhuis tensor vanishes. This J yields to the splitting $T_pX^{\mathbb{C}} = T_p^{1,0}X \oplus T_p^{0,1}X$ for all $p \in X$, with $pr_J^{1,0} = \frac{1}{2}(Id - \sqrt{-1}J)$ and $pr_J^{0,1} = \frac{1}{2}(Id + \sqrt{-1}J)$ the component projections with respect to the complex structure J. Holomorphicity is equivalent to the condition of $pr_J^{0,1}[pr^{1,0}X, pr^{0,1}Y] =$ 0, for $X, Y \in TM^{\mathbb{C}}$ where [X, Y] is the Lie bracket for vector fields on TX. Moreover, the complex structure J defines the operators $\partial = pr_J^{1,0}d$ and $\overline{\partial} = pr_J^{0,1}d$ with $\overline{\partial}^2 = 0$. (Here, we abuse notation by applying $pr_J^{1,0}$ and $pr_J^{0,1}$ on the cotangent bundles in the natural way.)

Suppose J' is another complex structure sufficiently close to J such that $TX^{\mathbb{C}} = T^{1,0}X' \oplus T^{0,1}X'$. Then $pr_J^{0,1}$ is an isomorphism between $T^{0,1}X'$ and $T^{0,1}X$. We have a $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X, T^{1,0}X)$, a vector valued (0, 1)-form on X which represents the map

$$pr^{1,0} \circ (pr^{0,1})^{-1} : T^{0,1}X \to T^{0,1}X \to T^{1,0}X$$

In the next section, we will explain how this vector valued one form arises.

Definition 1.0.2 (Analytic family of compact complex manifolds). We say $\mathscr{X} = \{X_t | t \in B\}$ is an analytic family of compact complex manifolds if

- B is a complex manifold which parametrizes complex structures on the given underlying smooth manifold.
- there exists holomorphic map $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B$ such that
 - for all $t, \pi^{-1}(t) = X_t,$
 - $\operatorname{rank} \pi = \operatorname{dim} B.$

Remark 1. 1. π : $\mathscr{X} \to B$ is holomorphic, so the total space is a complex manifold.

- 2. For rank $\pi = \dim B$, this means for $p \in \mathscr{U}_{\alpha} \subset \mathscr{X}$, if $z_{\alpha}(p,t) = (z_{\alpha}^{1}, \cdots, z_{\alpha}^{n}, t_{1}, \cdots, t_{m})$ are suitable local coordinates, then $\pi(p) = (t_{1}, \cdots, t_{m})$. On the other hand, if $p \in \mathscr{U}_{\alpha} \cap \mathscr{U}_{\beta} \subset \mathscr{X}$ and $z_{\alpha}(p,t) = (z_{\alpha}^{1}, \cdots, z_{\alpha}^{n}, t_{1}, \cdots, t_{m})$, $z_{\beta}(p,t) = (z_{\beta}^{1}, \cdots, z_{\beta}^{n}, t_{1}, \cdots, t_{m})$, then the transation function $f_{\alpha\beta}(t) = z_{\alpha}(p,t) \circ z_{\beta}^{-1}(p,t)$ depends on t. Hence different t \iff different transition function \iff different complex structure.
- 3. For a given complex manifold (X_0, J_0) , if there exists such an analytic family $\{X_t | t \in B\}$ such that $\pi^0 = (X_0, J_0)$ we call (X_t, J_t) is the deformation of (X_0, J_0) .

Question: For a given compact complex manifold (X_0, J_0) , does there exist an analytic family, at least for $B = \{t : |t| < \varepsilon\} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$? If such an analytic family exsits , we call the total space to be an (infinitesimal) deformation family of (X_0, J_0) .

1.1 Basic idea of analytic deformation theory

Let X be a compact complex manifold of $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} X = n$. Suppose $X = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Lambda} (U_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha})$, and transition function is $f_{\alpha\beta} = z_{\alpha} \circ z_{\beta}^{-1} : z_{\beta}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}) \to z_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta})$. From Kodaira-Spencer's viewpoint, deforming the complex structure on a given compact complex manifold is equivalent to deforming the transition functions holomorphically, which they describes as

$$\frac{dX_t}{dt} = \theta, \ \theta = [\theta_{\alpha\beta}], \text{ where } \theta_{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial f_{\alpha\beta}^i(z_\beta, t)}{\partial t} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_\alpha^i} \in H^1(X_t, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_t)).$$

Remark 2. $[\theta_{\alpha\beta}]$ is well-defined, moreover

$$\begin{cases} \theta_{\alpha\beta} + \theta_{\beta\gamma} + \theta_{\gamma\alpha} = 0\\ \theta_{\alpha\beta} = -\theta_{\beta\alpha}. \end{cases}$$
(1.1.1)

Proof. It suffices to check $\theta_{\alpha\beta} = \theta_{\alpha\gamma} + \theta_{\gamma\beta}$.

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{\alpha\beta} &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f_{\alpha\beta}^{i}(z_{\beta}, t)}{\partial t} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{\alpha}^{i}} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial f_{\alpha\gamma}^{i}}{\partial z_{\beta}^{k}} \frac{\partial z_{\beta}^{k}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial f_{\alpha\beta}^{i}}{\partial t} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{\alpha}^{i}} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f_{\alpha\gamma}^{i}(z_{\gamma}, t)}{\partial t} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{\alpha}^{i}} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial f_{\alpha\beta}^{i}}{\partial t} \frac{\partial z_{\gamma}^{k}}{\partial z_{\alpha}^{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{\gamma}^{k}} \\ &= \theta_{\alpha\gamma} + \theta_{\gamma\beta} \end{aligned}$$

At t = 0, the Dolbeault theorem tells us that $H^1(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) \cong H^{0,1}_{\overline{\partial}}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$. Moreover, Kodaira-Spencer show that for sufficiently small $t \in B$, we can express the deformation by an element $\varphi(t) \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$.

Theorem 1.1.1. On a given compact complex manifold X_0 , if there is an analytic family $\pi : \mathscr{X} = \{X_t | t \in B \subset \mathbb{C}^n, |t| < \epsilon\} \to B$ such that $\pi^{-1}(0) = X_0$ and $X_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$, then the complex structure on X_t is determined by some $\varphi(t) \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ satisfying:

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] \\ \varphi(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.1.2)

The $\overline{\partial}$ operator is with respect to the complex structure on (X_0, J_0) .

Remark 3. If we take local holomorphic coordinates (z_1, \dots, z_n) on X, and let $\varphi = \sum_{i,j} \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$ and $\psi = \sum_{k,l} \psi_{\overline{l}}^k d\overline{z}^l \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$, then $[\varphi, \psi] = \sum_{i,j,k,l} (\varphi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i \psi_{\overline{l}}^k + \psi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i \varphi_{\overline{l}}^k) d\overline{z}^j \wedge d\overline{z}^l \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$.

Proof. On \mathscr{X} , consider the coordinate charts $\{\mathscr{U}_{\alpha}, (w_{\alpha}, t)\}$, such that on $\mathscr{U}_{\alpha} \cap \mathscr{U}_{\beta}$, $w_{\alpha}(t) = \sum_{\beta} f_{\alpha\beta}(w_{\beta}(t), t)$, and $f_{\alpha\beta}$ is holomorphic in t.

At t = 0, on the central fiber X_0 , there are two differentiable coordinate systems: one is inherited from the holomorphic structure, locally, say on U_{α} , we write it to be $(z_{\alpha}^1, \dots, z_{\alpha}^n)$; another is from the total space \mathscr{X} , i.e. $(w_{\alpha}^1(z, 0), \dots, w_{\alpha}^n(z, 0))$. So the Jacobian $\det(\frac{\partial w^i(z,0)}{\partial z^j}) \neq 0$ on U_{α} . If |t| is sufficiently small, then $\det(\frac{\partial w^i(z,t)}{\partial z^j}) \neq 0$ on U_{α} . We let $F_i^j = (\frac{\partial w^i(z,t)}{\partial z^j})^{-1}$, and

$$\varphi = \sum_{i,j,k} F_j^i \frac{\partial w^j}{\partial \overline{z}_k} d\overline{z}_k \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$$

Then it can be checked that φ is well-defined and does not depend on the local coordinates, so it is a global section of $A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$. Let us write $\varphi = \sum_{i,j} \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i(t) d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$, then the holomorphic coordinates (w^1, \dots, w^n) on X_t satisfies:

$$\frac{\partial w_i}{\partial \overline{z}_k} = \sum_j \varphi_{\overline{k}}^j \frac{\partial w_i}{\partial z_j}$$

for all $i = 1, \dots, n$ and $k = 1, \dots, n$.

Under the new complex structure on X_t , a smooth function f is holomorphic if and only if $(\overline{\partial} - \sum_i \varphi^i(t)\partial_i)f(z) = 0$ on the central fiber, where $\varphi^i(t) = \sum_j \varphi(t)^i_{j}d\overline{z}^j$.

When t = 0, by the holomorphic structure on X_0 , it is easy to see that $\varphi(0) = 0$. To show the first equation in 1.1.2, we use $\overline{\partial} w^i = \sum_j \varphi^j \partial_j w^i$, where $\overline{\partial} = \sum_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_i} d\overline{z}^i$ $\varphi^j = \sum_k \varphi^j_{\overline{k}} d\overline{z}^k$. Applying $\overline{\partial}$ on both sides,

$$0 = \sum_{p,k,j} \left[\partial_{\overline{p}} \partial_{j} w^{i} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j} + \partial_{j} w^{i} \partial_{\overline{p}} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j} \right] d\overline{z}^{p} \wedge d\overline{z}^{k}$$

$$= \sum_{p,k,j,l} \left[\partial_{j} (\varphi_{\overline{p}}^{l} \partial_{l} w^{i}) \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j} + \partial_{j} w^{i} \partial_{\overline{p}} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j} \right] d\overline{z}^{p} \wedge d\overline{z}^{k}$$

$$= \sum_{p,k,j,l} \left[\partial_{l} \varphi_{\overline{p}}^{j} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l} + \partial_{\overline{p}} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j} \right] \partial_{j} w^{i} d\overline{z}^{p} \wedge d\overline{z}^{k}$$

$$= \sum_{p,k,j} \left[\partial_{\overline{p}} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j} - \partial_{l} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j} \varphi_{\overline{p}}^{l} \right] \partial_{j} w^{i} d\overline{z}^{p} \wedge d\overline{z}^{k}$$

$$(1.1.3)$$

If t is small enough, $\frac{\partial w^i}{\partial z_j}$ is invertible. We obtain $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi]$.

However, not every element in $A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ can express the deformation. The obstruction of deformation lies in $H^2(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0))$.

Theorem 1.1.2. If (X_0, J_0) is a compact complex manifold, and $\rho \in H^1(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0))$ is an infinitesimal deformation, then $[\rho, \rho] = 0$.

1.2 Existence of infinitesimal deformations

Theorem 1.2.1 (Kodaira, Kuranishi, Nirenberg, Spencer). If X_0 is a compact complex manifold, and $H^2(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) = 0$, then for every $\eta \in H^1(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0))$, there exists an analytic family $\pi : \mathscr{X} = \{X_t | t \in B, |t| < \varepsilon\} \to B \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ such that

- $X_0 = \pi^{-1}(0),$
- $\frac{dX_t}{dt}|_{t=0} = \eta$, i.e. the Kodaira-Spencer map KS: $T_0(B_{\varepsilon}) \to H^1(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0))$ is surjective.

We sketch the proof of the following existence theorem by using **Hodge Theory** to construct the formal power series solution to the deformation equation (1.1.2). To guarantee uniqueness of the solution, we fix **Kuranishi Gauge** i.e. $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = 0$.

Theorem 1.2.2 (Kodaira, Kuranishi, Nirenberg, Spencer). Let (X_0, g_0) be a compact complex manifold, and g_0 be Hermitian metric. Suppose $H^2(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) = 0$, then

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] \\ \overline{\partial}^*\varphi = 0 \\ \varphi(0) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.2.1)

has a unique power series solution $\varphi(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \varphi_i(t)$.

Proof. Step 1: Construction of the power series

By Hodge theory, if $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = 0$, then

$$\varphi(t) = \mathbb{H}(\varphi) + \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^* G\varphi + \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} G\varphi$$

= $\mathbb{H}(\varphi) + \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi, \varphi],$ (1.2.2)

where $G: A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0) \to A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ is the Green operator associated to the Hodge Laplacian $\Box = \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^* + \overline{\partial}^*\overline{\partial}$.

Let
$$\varphi(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \varphi_i(t)$$
, where $\varphi_i(t) = \sum_{|I|=i} t^I \varphi_I$, where I is multi-index.

Let $\mathbb{H}^1(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) = span\{\beta_1, \cdots, \beta_k\}$. Then $\varphi_1(t) = \mathbb{H}(\varphi) \in \mathbb{H}^1(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0))$ and there exists t_1, \cdots, t_k such that $\varphi_1(t) = \sum_{j=1}^k t_j \beta_j$.

Comparing the power of t in (1.2.2), we get a power series solution to the deformation equation as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \varphi_2 = \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi_1, \varphi_1] \\ \varphi_3 = \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G([\varphi_1, \varphi_2] + [\varphi_2, \varphi_1]) \\ \vdots \\ \varphi_n = \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} [\varphi_j, \varphi_{n-j}] \\ \vdots \end{cases}$$
(1.2.3)

Step 2: Convergence

First, we show the power series is convergent in $C^{k+\alpha}$ norm $|| \cdot ||_{k+\alpha}$.

Lemma 1.2.1 (A priori estimate).

$$\|\varphi\|_{k+\alpha} \le C(\|\Box\varphi\|_{k-2+\alpha} + \|\varphi\|_0).$$

Lemma 1.2.2.

 $\|[\varphi,\psi]\|_{k+\alpha} \le C \|\varphi\|_{k+\alpha+1} \|\psi\|_{k+\alpha+1}.$

Lemma 1.2.3.

$$||G\varphi||_{k+\alpha} \le C ||\varphi||_{k-2+\alpha}.$$

Let
$$\varphi^n(t) = \sum_{i=1}^n \varphi_i(t)$$
, then by (1.2.3),

$$\varphi^n(t) = \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi^{n-1}(t), \varphi^{n-1}(t)] mod(t^{n+1}).$$

We consider a power series

$$A(t) = \frac{\beta}{16\gamma} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \gamma^m (t_1 + \dots + t_k)^m$$

=
$$\sum_{|I| \ge 1} A_I t^I$$
 (1.2.4)

with β , γ are positive constants, I is multi-index. When $|t| \ll 1$, A(t) is convergent.

Our goal is to find proper β , γ , such that $\|\varphi(t)\|_{k+\alpha} \leq A(t)$, i.e. $\|\varphi_{|I|}\|_{k+\alpha} \leq A_{|I|}$ When n = 1, $\varphi^1 = \varphi_1 = \sum_{i=1}^k t_i \beta_i$, so we can choose β , γ such that $\|\varphi^1\|_{k+\alpha} \leq A(t)$. Assume $\|\varphi^{n-1}(t)\|_{k+\alpha} \leq A(t)$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \|\frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^{*}G[\varphi^{n-1}(t),\varphi^{n-1}(t)]\|_{k+\alpha} &\leq C_{1}\|G[\varphi^{n-1}(t),\varphi^{n-1}(t)]\|_{k+\alpha+1} \\ &\leq C_{k,\alpha}C_{1}\|[\varphi^{n-1}(t),\varphi^{n-1}(t)]\|_{k+\alpha-1} \\ &\leq C_{k,\alpha}C_{1}C\|\varphi^{n-1}(t)\|_{k+\alpha}^{2} \end{aligned}$$
(1.2.5)

By the induction hypothesis, we get

$$\|\varphi^n(t)\|_{k+\alpha} \le \tilde{C}A(t)^2$$

But we also have $A(t)^2 \leq \frac{\beta}{\gamma} A(t)$. Now we can further choose β , γ such that $\tilde{C}(\frac{\beta}{\gamma}) \leq 1$, then for all n, $\|\varphi^n(t)\|_{k+\alpha} \leq A(t)$.

Therefore, $\varphi(t)$ is convergent in $C^{k+\alpha}$ norm.

Step 3: We show that under the assumption $H^2(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) = 0$, the power series constructed in step 1 and 2 is the solution to $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi, \varphi]$.

Proposition 1. If $\varphi(t) = \mathbb{H}(\varphi) + \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi, \varphi]$, then $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi, \varphi]$ if and only if $\mathbb{H}[\varphi, \varphi] = 0$.

Proof. If $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi]$, then $\mathbb{H}[\varphi,\varphi] = 2\mathbb{H}\overline{\partial}\varphi = 0$. Conversely, if $\mathbb{H}[\varphi,\varphi] = 0$, we will show $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi]$. Let $\psi = \overline{\partial}\varphi - \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi]$, by Hodge decompositon, we get

$$\begin{split} \psi &= \overline{\partial}\varphi - \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi,\varphi] - \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] = -\frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^*\overline{\partial}G[\varphi,\varphi] \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G([\overline{\partial}\varphi,\varphi] - [\varphi,\overline{\partial}\varphi]) \\ &= -\overline{\partial}^* G[\overline{\partial}\varphi,\varphi] \\ &= -\overline{\partial}^* G([\psi + \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi],\varphi]) \\ &= -\overline{\partial}^* G[[\psi,\varphi]] \end{split}$$
(1.2.6)

By lemma 1.2.1-1.2.3,

$$\|\psi\|_{k+\alpha} = \|\overline{\partial}^* G[\psi,\varphi]\|_{k+\alpha}$$

$$\leq C_1 \|G[\psi,\varphi]\|_{k+\alpha+1}$$

$$\leq C_2 \|[\psi,\varphi]\|_{k+\alpha-1}$$

$$\leq C_3 \|\varphi\|_{k+\alpha} \|\psi\|_{k+\alpha}.$$
(1.2.7)

We can choose sufficiently small t such that $C_3 \|\varphi\|_{k+\alpha} \ll 1$, which is possible since $\varphi(0) = 0$. Therefore, $\|\psi\|_{k+\alpha} = 0$ and $\psi = 0$.

Step 4: Regularity of φ

Proposition 2. $\varphi(z,t)$ is C^{∞} in (z,t) and holomorphic in t.

Proof. By the construction, φ is a power series in t, so it's holomorphic in t and $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial t_i \partial \overline{t_i}} = 0.$

On the other hand, we know φ satisfies:

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] \\ \overline{\partial}^*\varphi = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.2.8)

We get, $\Box \varphi = \overline{\partial} \overline{\partial}^* \varphi + \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} \varphi = \frac{1}{2} \overline{\partial}^* [\varphi, \varphi].$

Since as φ satisfies the quasi-linear elliptic equation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial t_i \partial \overline{t_i}} + \Box \varphi - \frac{1}{2} \overline{\partial}^* [\varphi, \varphi] = 0,$$

we have C^{∞} regularity is for small t.

Step 5: $\{X_t | t \in B_{\varepsilon}\}$ is a complex analytic family.

The last step follows from Nirenberg-Newlander theorem.

Theorem 1.2.3 (Nirenberg-Newlander). Locally, let $L_{\overline{i}} = (\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}^i}) - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j(\frac{\partial}{\partial z^j})$, suppose $L_{\overline{i}}$ and $\overline{L_{\overline{i}}}$ are complex linearly independent, $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi]$. Then there are $n \ C^{\infty}$ solutions $w_1 \cdots w_n$ to $L_{\overline{i}} = 0$, such that

$$\det\left(\frac{\partial(w_1,\cdots,w_n,\overline{w_1},\cdots,\overline{w_n})}{\partial(z_1,\cdots,z_n,\overline{z_1},\cdots,\overline{z_n})}\right)\neq 0.$$

1.3 Completeness of the analytic family

In this section, we prove Kuranishi's theorem which can be viewed as the completeness of an analytic family of complex structures.

Definition 1.3.1. Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} = \{X_t | t \in B, |t| < \varepsilon\} \to B \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ be a complex analytic family of compact complex manifolds. The family (\mathscr{X}, B, π) is called complete at $t_0 \in B$, if for any complex analytic family (\mathscr{N}, D, ω) containing 0 and so that $\pi^{-1}(t_0) = \omega^{-1}(0)$, there are a sufficiently small domain E with $0 \in E \subset D$, and a holomorphic map h such that $(\mathscr{N}_E, E, \omega)$ is the complex analytic family induced from (\mathscr{X}, B, π) by h, where $\mathscr{N}_E = \omega^{-1}(E)$.

Theorem 1.3.1. (Kuranishi)

(a) Let X be a given compact complex manifold. Let $\{\eta_{\nu}\}_{\nu=1}^{m}$ be a base for $\mathbb{H}^{1} \cong H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X))$. Suppose $\varphi(t)$ is the solution to the Kuranishi equation

$$\varphi(t) = \eta(t) + \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi(t), \varphi(t)]$$
(1.3.1)

г		п
L		
L		

where $\eta(t) = \sum_{\nu=1}^{m} t_{\nu} \eta_{\nu}$, for sufficiently small $|t| < \epsilon$. Let $B = \{t \in \mathbb{C}^{n} ||t| < \epsilon, \mathbb{H}[\varphi(t), \varphi(t)] = 0\}$. Then for all $t \in B, \varphi(t)$ determines a complex structure on X_{t} .

- (b) Let $\psi \in A^{0,1}(X, T^{1,0}X)$ such that $\overline{\partial}\psi = \frac{1}{2}[\psi, \psi]$. Then ψ determines a complex structure on X_{ψ} . If the sobolev norm $||\psi||_{W^{k,2}}$ is small enough, then there exists a holomorphic vector field $\xi \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X))^{\perp}$, and a diffeomorphism $f_{\xi}: X \to X$ depending on ξ , such that $\varphi(t) = \psi \circ f_{\xi}$ for some $t \in B$ and X_{ψ} is biholomorphic to X_t , where $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X))^{\perp}$ is the orthogonal complement of $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X))$ with respect to the L^2 norm.
- **Remark 4.** 1. In the Kuranishi theorem, one is not assuming $H^2(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X)) = 0$, *i.e.* the deformation of the complex structure may have obstructions.
 - In the previous section, to show the existence of the solution to the deformation equation, we fixed the Kuranishi Gauge, i.e. ∂^{*}φ = 0. However, in general, the Kuranishi gauge may not be fixed. In the following of proof of statement (b), we will see that based on the assumption of sufficiently small solution to the deformation equation, we can find a diffeomorphism to adjust the gauge such that Kuranishi gauge can be achieved.
 - 3. Statement (b) can be viewed as a completeness theorem of the analytic family.

Proof. (a) follows immediately from Proposition 1.

For (b), we need to show for X_{ψ} with $||\psi||_{W^{k,2}} < \delta$ for some $\delta \ll 1$, X_{ψ} is biholomorphic to $X_{\varphi(t)}$ for some $t \in B$. We divide the proof into the following three propositions.

Proposition 3. For fixed $\eta(t) \in \mathbb{H}^1(X, T^{1,0}X)$, the Kuranishi equation $\varphi(t) = \eta(t) + \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi(t), \varphi(t)]$ has only one solution with $||\varphi||_k = ||\varphi||_{W^{k,2}} < \delta$.

Proof. Assume φ and ψ are two solutions to the Kuranishi equation with $\mathbb{H}\varphi =$

 $\mathbb{H}\psi = \eta(t)$, and $||\varphi||_k$, $||\psi||_k < \delta$. Then,

$$\tau = \varphi - \psi$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi, \varphi] - \frac{1}{2} \overline{\partial}^* G[\psi, \psi]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \overline{\partial}^* G([\tau, \tau] + 2[\tau, \psi])$$
(1.3.2)

Hence, $||\tau||_k \leq C||\tau||_k(||\tau||_k + ||\psi||_k)$, and this inequality is true if and only if $||\tau||_k = 0$ due to the fact that $||\varphi||_k, ||\psi||_k < \delta$.

According to this proposition, the small enough solution to the Kuranishi equation is uniquely determined by its harmonic part.

The next proposition tells that with respect to Kuranishi gauge, any complex manifold X_{ψ} with $||\psi||_k \leq \delta$ can be obtained by the solution to the Kuranishi equation.

Proposition 4. For X_{ψ} with $||\psi|| < \delta$, if $\overline{\partial}^* \psi = 0$, then there exists a solution $\varphi(t)$ satisfying the Kuranishi equation $\varphi(t) = \eta(t) + \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi(t), \varphi(t)]$ such that $X_{\psi} \cong X_{\varphi(t)}$. (Acutally, $\psi = \varphi(t)$).

Proof. Assume the complex structure on X_{ψ} is determined by ψ . Then ψ satisfies the deformation equation

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\psi = \frac{1}{2}[\psi,\psi] \\ \overline{\partial}^*\psi = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.3)

Let $\eta = \mathbb{H}(\psi)$, then $\psi = \eta + \frac{1}{2}\overline{\partial}^* G[\psi, \psi]$ with $||\psi||_k < \delta$. By the previous proposition, we know $\psi = \varphi(t)$ for some $|t| < \epsilon$.

However, in general, the Kuranishi gauge may not hold. The following proposition shows that we can always find a diffeomorphism to adjust the gauge to the Kuranishi gauge.

Proposition 5. If $\overline{\partial}^* \psi \neq 0$, then for $||\psi||_k < \delta$, there exists a diffeomorphism $f_{\xi}: X \to X$ determined by a vector $\xi \in H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X)^{\perp}$, such that $\overline{\partial}^*(\psi \circ f_{\xi}) = 0$.

Proof. Claim: For sufficiently small $||\psi||_k$, a diffeomorphism $f: X \to X$, $\varphi = \psi \circ f$ also determines a complex structure on X.

Proof of the Claim: Assume $X_{\psi} \subset \bigcup (U_{\alpha}, \zeta^{\alpha}(z))$, where $\zeta^{\alpha}(z)$ is the local ψ -holomorphic coordinate. Suppose $f : X \xrightarrow{\alpha} X$ is a diffeomorphism and $X \subset \bigcup_{\alpha} (f(U_{\alpha}), \zeta^{\alpha}(f(z)))$. Then

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\zeta^{\alpha}(z) = \psi^{\beta}\partial_{\beta}\zeta^{\alpha}(z) \\ \overline{\partial}\zeta^{\alpha}(f(z)) = \varphi^{\beta}\partial_{\beta}\zeta^{\alpha}(f(z)). \end{cases}$$
(1.3.4)

From the second equation,

$$\frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial f^{\gamma}} \frac{\partial f^{\gamma}}{\partial \overline{z}^{\delta}} + \frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{f}^{\gamma}} \frac{\partial \overline{f}^{\gamma}}{\partial \overline{z}^{\delta}} = \varphi^{\beta}_{\delta} \left[\frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial f^{\gamma}} \frac{\partial f^{\gamma}}{\partial z^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{f}^{\gamma}} \frac{\partial \overline{f}^{\gamma}}{\partial z^{\beta}} \right]$$

Using the first equation, we get

$$\frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial f^{\gamma}} \frac{\partial f^{\gamma}}{\partial \overline{z}^{\delta}} + \psi^{\beta}_{\overline{\gamma}} \frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial f^{\beta}} \frac{\partial \overline{f}^{\gamma}}{\partial \overline{z}^{\delta}} = \varphi^{\beta}_{\delta} \left[\frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial f^{\gamma}} \frac{\partial f^{\gamma}}{\partial z^{\beta}} + \psi^{\eta}_{\overline{\gamma}} \frac{\partial \zeta^{\alpha}}{\partial f^{\eta}} \frac{\partial \overline{f}^{\gamma}}{\partial z^{\beta}} \right].$$

Then we obtain

$$\overline{\partial}f^{\gamma} + \psi^{\gamma}_{\beta}\overline{\partial}\overline{f}^{\beta} = \varphi^{\beta}[\partial_{\beta}f^{\gamma} + \psi^{\gamma}_{\eta}\partial_{\beta}\overline{f}^{\eta}].$$
(1.3.5)

There exists some $\delta \ll 1$, such that when $||\psi||_k < \delta$, the gauge matrix $[\partial_\beta f^\gamma + \psi_\eta^\gamma \partial_\beta \overline{f}^\eta]$ is invertible, and the new complex structure φ is determined by ψ and the diffeomorphism f.

Next, we will use geodesics to construct such a diffeomorphism.

Recall that if $z(t) = (z^1(t), \dots, z^n(t))$ is the geodesic which starts from z_0 with initial velocity ξ , then it satisfies the equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d^2 z^{\alpha}(t)}{dt^2} + \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma} \frac{dz^{\alpha}}{dt} \frac{dz^{\beta}}{dt} = 0\\ z(0) = z_0\\ \frac{dz(t)}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} = \xi \end{cases}$$
(1.3.6)

where $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma}$ corresponds to the Chern connection of the Hermitian metric.

z(t) smoothly depends on the initial data $z^{\alpha}(t) = z^{\alpha}(t, z_0, \xi)$. Now we let $f^{\alpha}(z_0, \xi) = z^{\alpha}(1, z_0, \xi)$. We want to find the Taylor expansion of f with respect to ξ . Notice that

$$f^{\alpha}(z_0, t\xi) = z^{\alpha}(1, z_0, t\xi) = z^{\alpha}(t, z_0, \xi), \qquad (1.3.7)$$

take derivative on t, we get

$$\frac{\partial f^{\alpha}}{\partial \xi^{\beta}}\xi^{\beta} + \frac{\partial f^{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{\xi}^{\beta}}\overline{\xi}^{\beta} = \frac{\partial z^{\alpha}}{\partial t},$$

so,

$$\begin{cases} f^{\alpha}(z_0, 0) = z_0^{\alpha} \\ \frac{\partial f^{\alpha}}{\partial \xi^{\beta}}(z_0, 0) = \delta_{\alpha\beta} \\ \frac{\partial f^{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{\xi}^{\beta}}(z_0, 0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.8)

Thus, we obtain the expansion

$$f^{\alpha}(z_0,\xi) = z_0^{\alpha} + \xi^{\alpha} + O(|\xi|^2) = z_0^{\alpha} + \xi^{\alpha} + h^{\alpha}.$$

For a given vector ξ , we define the diffeomorphism $f_{\xi} : z^{\alpha} \mapsto f^{\alpha}(z,\xi)$, which satisfies equation (1.3.5), i.e.

$$\overline{\partial}\xi^{\alpha} + \overline{\partial}h^{\alpha} + \psi^{\alpha}_{\overline{\beta}}[d\overline{z}^{\beta} + \overline{\partial}\overline{\xi}^{\beta} + \overline{\partial}\overline{h}^{\beta}] = \varphi^{\beta}[\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} + \partial_{\beta}\xi^{\alpha} + \partial_{\beta}h^{\alpha} + \psi^{\alpha}_{\overline{\eta}}(\partial_{\beta}\overline{z}^{\eta}_{0} + \partial_{\beta}\overline{\xi}^{\eta} + \partial_{\beta}\overline{h}^{\eta})],$$

and

$$\varphi^{\beta} = \overline{\partial}\xi^{\beta} + \psi^{\beta} + R(\xi, \psi), \qquad (1.3.9)$$

where $R(\xi, \psi)$ smoothly depends on ξ , ψ and their first order derivatives.

We are looking for ξ that the modified complex structure satisfies $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = \overline{\partial}^* (\psi \circ f_{\xi}) = 0$, where f_{ξ} is the diffeomorphism generated by ξ .

Now, take $\xi \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X))^{\perp}$, i.e. for all $\eta \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X)), \langle \xi, \eta \rangle_{L^2} = 0$. By the Hodge decomposition, $\xi = \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} G\xi$, and by equation (1.3.9),

$$\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} \xi + \overline{\partial}^* \psi + \overline{\partial}^* R(\xi, \psi) = 0,$$

and

$$\xi + G\overline{\partial}^* \psi + G\overline{\partial}^* R(\xi, \psi) = 0.$$
(1.3.10)

By the implicit function theorem, equation (1.3.10) has solution $\xi = g(\psi)$ for $\|\psi\|_k < \delta$. Since the equation

$$\Box \xi + \overline{\partial}^* R(\xi, \psi) + \overline{\partial}^* \psi = 0$$

is of second order elliptic, ξ is $C^\infty.$

Therefore, with such ξ , the diffeomorphism f_{ξ} will adjust the gauge into the Kuranishi gauge.

We finish the proof of Theorem 1.3.1.

Chapter 2

Complex Deformation on Fano Kähler-Einstein Manifolds

In this chapter, we study the analytic family of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds. For a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, we know that the deformation of complex structure has no obstruction, so the deformation equation with respect to the Kuranishi gauge can be solved and the solution is uniquely determined by its harmonic part. In the following computation, instead of using the Kuranishi gauge, we will use the divergence gauge. In section 1, we show that these two gauges are equivalent on a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold. As a matter of fact, we prove a more general result. We consider a Fano Kähler manfold with the Ricci potential given by a smooth function f. If we replace the Kuranishi gauge and the divergence gauge by the f-Kuranishi gauge and the f-divergence gauge, then we conclude that the f-Kuranishi gauge is equivalent to the f-divergence gauge. This equivalence guarantees that the deformation equation of the complex structure on the Fano manifold is solvable under the f-divergence gauge. In particular, on the Kähler-Einstein manifold, the deformation equation of the complex structure is solvable under divergence gauge. In section 2, based on the assumption that the automorphism group is discrete, we compute the Taylor expansion of the Kähler form and volume form on the deformed Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds. This expansion will be used in the study of the L^2 metric on the direct image sheaf in later sections. In section 3, we investigate the deformation of pluri-anticanonical sections. We establish the deformation equation of these sections and use the Hodge theory to show that the deformation equation is solvable under the Kuranishi-divergence gauge. Furthermore, starting from a pluri-anticanonical section on the central fiber, we can explicitly construct the solution to the deformation equation in terms of the power series. In section 4, by studying the Taylor expansion of L^2 metric on the direct image sheaf, we obtain the quantization of the Weil-Petersson metric on the moduli space. In section 5, we explore the deformation equation of the holomorphic vector field. Especially, we discuss the solution to the deformation equation of the holomorphic vector field under the assumption that the dimension of the space of holomorphic vector fields is a constant. The results obtained in this chapter is in paper [5].

2.1 Deformation of complex structures on Fano manifolds and gauge equivalence

Definition 2.1.1. Let (X, J) be a compact complex manifold. X is called Fano if the anticanonical line bundle $K_X^{-1} = \Lambda^n T^{1,0} X$ is ample; equivalently, the first Chern class $c_1(X) > 0$.

Definition 2.1.2. Let (X, J, ω) be a Kähler manifold with the Kähler form ω . It is called Kähler-Einstein manifold if the Ricci form satisfies $R_{i\bar{j}} = \rho\omega$, where ρ is a constant. In particular, if $\rho > 0$, X is called the Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold; if $\rho = 0$, X is called the Calabi-Yau manifold; and if $\rho < 0$, X is called Kähler-Einstein manifold of general type.

Lemma 2.1.1. Let (X_0, J_0, ω_0) be a compact Fano Kähler manifold with canonical line bundle K_0 . Then

$$H^2(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) = 0.$$

Proof. By Serre duality,

$$H^{2}(X_{0}, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_{0})) \cong H^{n-2}(X_{0}, \mathcal{O}((T^{1,0}X_{0})^{*} \otimes K_{0}))$$
$$\cong H^{n-2}(X_{0}, \Omega^{1}(K_{0})).$$

But on Fano manifold, $c_1(K_0) = -c_1(X_0) < 0$. By the Kodaira vanishing theorem, we know

$$H^2(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) = 0.$$

Hence, there is no obstruction to the deformation of complex structure on Fano manifolds, and in particular, this is true on compact Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds. According to Kodaira, Kuranishi, Nirenberg and Spencer's work (see Theroem 1.2.1), there exists an (infinitesimal) analytic family $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B = \{t = (t_1 \cdots, t_k) \in C^k | |t| < \epsilon\}$ of Fano manifolds. Here $k = \dim H^1(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$. In addition, the deformation equation

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi(t) = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi(t),\varphi(t)] \\ \overline{\partial}^*\varphi(t) = 0 \\ \varphi(0) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.1.1)

has a unique power series solution $\varphi(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \varphi_i(t)$ with $\varphi_1(t) = \mathbb{H}(\varphi) \in H^1(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, and $\varphi_i(t) = \sum_{\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = i} t_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots t_k^{\alpha_k} \varphi_{\alpha_1 \dots + \alpha_k}$. Recall that the condition $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi(t) = 0$ is referred to be the **Kuranishi Gauge**.

If (X_0, J_0, ω_0) is a compact Fano Kähler manifold, then by $\partial \overline{\partial}$ -Lemma, there is a smooth complex valued function f on X_0 such that $Ric_0 - \omega_0 = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \overline{\partial} f$. Let $(E, h) \to X_0$ be a complex vector bundle, and $A^{p,q}(X_0, E)$ is the space of smooth E-valued (p, q)-forms. With f, we can define the L_f^2 -norm on $A^{p,q}(X_0, E)$. For $\varphi, \psi \in A^{p,q}(X_0, E)$,

$$\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle_f = \int_{X_0} (\varphi, \psi)_h e^f \frac{\omega_0^n}{n!}.$$

Moreover, we define $\overline{\partial}_f^* = \overline{\partial}^* - i_{\overline{\nabla}f}$, where $\overline{\nabla}f$ is a (0,1)-vector. The f-Laplacian is defined to be $\Box_f = \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}_f^* + \overline{\partial}_f^*\overline{\partial}$. We mention that \Box_f is a second order elliptic self-adjoint operator with respect to the volume form $e^f \frac{\omega_0^n}{n!}$. The E-valued $(p,q)_f$ -harmonic form α is defined to be $\Box_f \alpha = 0$, and

$$\mathbb{H}_f^{p,q}(X) = \{ \alpha \in A^{p,q}(X_0, E) \big| \Box_f \alpha = 0 \}.$$

On a Fano manifold, we know the deformation equation (2.1.1) can be solved under the Kuranishi gauge. In fact, applying the method in the proof of proposition 5, we can adjust the Kuranishi gauge by finding a diffeomorphism $\sigma : X \to X$, such that $\psi = \varphi \circ \sigma$ solves $\overline{\partial}_f^* \psi = 0$.

Proposition 6. Let (X_0, ω_0) be a compact Fano Kähler manifold. Suppose there is $\delta \ll 1$ such that $\varphi(t)$ solves equation (2.1.1) with $||\varphi(t)||_k < \delta$, for $t \in B$. Then there exists a vector field ξ in the L_f^2 orthogonal complement of $\mathbb{H}_f^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, such that $\sigma_{\xi} : X_0 \to X_0$ is a diffeomorphism of X_0 generated by ξ , and $\psi = \varphi \circ \sigma_{\xi}$ satisfies the following equations

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\psi = \frac{1}{2}[\psi(t),\psi(t)]\\ \overline{\partial}_{f}^{*}\psi = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.1.2)

Proof. For a diffeomorphism $\sigma : X_0 \to X_0$, if σ and $d\sigma$ are close to the identity map, and if $||\varphi||_k < \delta$, then $\varphi \circ \sigma$ also determines a complex structure ψ on X_0 .

Take a vector field ξ in the L_f^2 orthogonal complement of $\mathbb{H}_f^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, and consider the geodesic $z(t) = (z_1(t), \ldots, z_n(t))$ starting from z_0 with initial velocity ξ where $z_\alpha(t) = z_\alpha(t, z_0, \xi)$. Let $\sigma_\alpha(z_0, \xi) = z_\alpha(1, z_0, \xi)$, and we define the diffeomorphism $\sigma_{\xi} : z_\alpha \to \sigma_\alpha(z, \xi)$. Then by Taylor expansion of σ_{ξ} , by (1.3.9) we get

$$\psi = \partial \xi + \varphi + R(\xi, \varphi),$$

where $R(\xi, \varphi)$ smoothly depends on ξ , φ and their derivatives. By the equation $\overline{\partial}_f^* \psi = 0$, we let G_f be the Green operator associated to the *f*-Laplacian \Box_f , then we see ξ satisfies

$$\xi + G_f \overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi + G_f \overline{\partial}_f^* R(\xi, \varphi) = 0.$$
(2.1.3)

Notice that $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = 0$, so the above equation reads as

$$\xi - G_f \overline{\nabla} f \lrcorner \varphi + G_f \overline{\partial}_f^* R(\xi, \varphi) = 0.$$
(2.1.4)

Define an operator F from a neighborhood where $R(\xi, \varphi)$ is defined to the L_f^2 orthogonal complement of $\mathbb{H}_f^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ by $F(\xi, \varphi) = \xi - G_f \nabla f \lrcorner \varphi + G_f \overline{\partial}_f^* R$. Then $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \xi}|_{(0,0)} = Id$, by the implicit function theorem, such a ξ to equation (2.1.4) exists. Moreover, ξ also satisfies

$$\Box_f \xi - \overline{\nabla} f \lrcorner \varphi + \overline{\partial}_f^* R(\xi, \varphi) = 0, \qquad (2.1.5)$$

which is a second order elliptic equation, so ξ is of class C^{∞} .

With such a vector field ξ , the new complex structure $\psi = \varphi \circ \sigma_{\xi}$ satisfies $\overline{\partial}_{f}^{*}\psi = 0.$

Remark 5. On a Fano Kähler manifold, we refer to the condition $\overline{\partial}_f^* \psi = 0$ as the f-Kuranishi gauge.

Now, we introduce the divergence gauge and the f-divergence gauge. The divergence gauge was introduced by X. Sun in his paper [15], where he studied the complex deformation of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type. Later, in the paper [16], Sun and Yau also used it to study the complex deformation of the Calabi-Yau manifolds. In the following, we use the notation $\partial_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$ and we use Einstein convention from now on i.e. repeated indices mean taking the sum of them.

Definition 2.1.3. Let $(L, h) \rightarrow (X_0, \omega_0)$ be a Hermitian line bundle over a complex manifold. The divergence operator is

div =
$$Tr \circ \nabla : A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0 \otimes L) \to A^{0,1}(X_0, L)$$

Locally, if $(z_1 \ldots, z_n)$ are local holomorphic coordinates on X_0 and e is a holomorphic frame of L, for $\eta = \eta_j^i d\overline{z}_j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} \otimes e \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0 \otimes L)$,

$$\operatorname{div}\eta = (\partial_i \eta^i_{\overline{i}} + \eta^i_{\overline{i}} \partial_i \log(g_0 h)) d\overline{z}_j \otimes e,$$

where g_0 is the determinant of the metric on X_0 .

Definition 2.1.4 (X. Sun[15]). For $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, div $\varphi = 0$ is called the divergence gauge.

If the underlying manifold is a compact Fano Kähler manifold with the volume density $e^{f} \frac{\omega^{n}}{n!}$, we can also define div_f.

Definition 2.1.5. For $\eta = \eta_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}_j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} \otimes e \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0 \otimes L),$ $\operatorname{div}_f \eta = (\partial_i \eta_{\overline{j}}^i + \eta_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i \log(g_0 h e^f)) d\overline{z}_j \otimes e;$

and for $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi = 0$ is called the f-divergence gauge.

Remark 6. (1.) $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi = \operatorname{div} \varphi + \varphi \lrcorner \partial f$.

(2.) In terms of local holomorphic coordinates $(z_1, \ldots z_n)$ on X_0 , for $\omega_g = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} g_{i\bar{j}} dz^i \wedge d\bar{z}^j$, $\varphi = \varphi_{\bar{j}}^p d\bar{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_p}$, we have

$$\overline{\partial}_{f}^{*}\varphi = \left[-(\partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p})g^{l\overline{j}} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{l}\partial_{l}g^{p\overline{j}} - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p}g^{l\overline{j}}\partial_{l}f\right]\frac{\partial}{\partial z_{p}} \\
= \left[-\partial_{l}(\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p}g_{p\overline{i}})g^{l\overline{j}}g^{k\overline{i}} - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k}g^{l\overline{j}}\partial_{l}f\right]\frac{\partial}{\partial z_{k}},$$
(2.1.6)

and

$$div_{f}\varphi = (\partial_{p}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p}\partial_{p}\log g + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p}\partial_{p}f)d\overline{z}^{j}$$

$$= [\partial_{k}(\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p}g_{p\overline{l}})g^{k\overline{l}} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{p}\partial_{p}f]d\overline{z}^{j}.$$
(2.1.7)

Next, we will show that on a compact Fano Kähler manifold with volume density $e^{f} \frac{\omega^{n}}{n!}$, the f-Kuranishi gauge is equivalent to the f-divergence gauge. Consequently, under either one of these gauges, the deformation equation of complex structures can be solved, and we still have the analytic family of compact Fano Kähler manifolds.

Firstly, we show the f-divergence gauge implies the f-Kuranishi gauge.

Lemma 2.1.2. If (X_0, ω_0) is a Fano Kähler manifold with volume density $e^{f \frac{\omega^n}{n!}}$, for $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, we have

(1.) $\overline{\partial} \operatorname{div}_f \varphi = \operatorname{div}_f(\overline{\partial} \varphi) - 2\sqrt{-1}\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0$

(2.)
$$\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div}_f[\varphi,\varphi] = \varphi \lrcorner \partial(\operatorname{div}_f \varphi).$$

Proof. For the first identity, let $\omega_0 = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} g_{i\overline{j}} dz^i \wedge d\overline{z}^j$ and let $\varphi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$. Then $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi = (\partial_i \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i (\log g + f)) d\overline{z}^j$. And

$$\overline{\partial}(\operatorname{div}_{f}\varphi) = (\partial_{\overline{l}}\partial_{i}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} + \partial_{\overline{l}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{i}(\log g + f) + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{\overline{l}}\partial_{i}(\log g + f))d\overline{z}^{l} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j}
= (\partial_{i}(\partial_{\overline{l}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}) + (\partial_{\overline{l}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i})\partial_{i}(\log g + f) - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}(R_{i\overline{l}} - f_{i\overline{l}}))d\overline{z}^{l} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j}
= (\partial_{i}(\partial_{\overline{l}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}) + (\partial_{\overline{l}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i})\partial_{i}(\log g + f) - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}g_{i\overline{l}})d\overline{z}^{l} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j}
= \operatorname{div}_{f}(\overline{\partial}\varphi) - 2\sqrt{-1}\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}.$$
(2.1.8)

From the second step to the third step, we use the equation $R_{i\bar{j}} - f_{i\bar{j}} = g_{i\bar{j}}$.

For the second equation, we note

$$\frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] = \varphi_{\overline{k}}^l \partial_l \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^k \wedge d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i},$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{div}_{f}[\varphi,\varphi] = \left[\partial_{i}(\varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l}\partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}) + \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l}\partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{i}(\log g + f)\right]d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j} \\
= \left[(\partial_{i}\varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l})(\partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}) + \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l}\partial_{i}\partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} + \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l}\partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{i}(\log g + f)\right]d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j} \\
= \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l}(\partial_{i}\partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} + \partial_{l}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{i}(\log g + f))d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j} \\
= \varphi \lrcorner \partial(\operatorname{div}_{f}\varphi).$$
(2.1.9)

Based on lemma 2.1.2, we can prove the f-divergence gauge implies the f-Kuranishi gauge.

Proposition 7. Let (X_0, ω_0) be a compact Fano Kähler manifold with volume density $e^f \frac{\omega^n}{n!}$. Let φ be the Beltrami differential satisfying $\overline{\partial} \varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi, \varphi]$ and $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi = 0$. Then $\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$ and $\overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi = 0$. Proof.

$$0 = \overline{\partial}(\operatorname{div}_{f}\varphi)$$

$$= \operatorname{div}_{f}(\overline{\partial}\varphi) - 2\sqrt{-1}\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{div}_{f}[\varphi,\varphi] - 2\sqrt{-1}\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}$$

$$= \varphi \lrcorner \partial(\operatorname{div}_{f}\varphi) - 2\sqrt{-1}\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}$$

$$= -2\sqrt{-1}\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}.$$
(2.1.10)

Thus, $\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$, i.e, $\varphi^p_{\overline{j}} g_{p\overline{l}} = \varphi^p_{\overline{l}} g_{p\overline{j}}$. Moreover, for $\varphi = \varphi^i_{\overline{j}} d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$

$$\begin{split} \overline{\partial}_{f}^{*}\varphi &= -g^{k\overline{j}}\nabla_{k}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} - \varphi \lrcorner \overline{\nabla}f \\ &= \nabla_{k}(g^{k\overline{j}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}) - \varphi \lrcorner \overline{\nabla}f \\ &= -\nabla_{k}(g^{i\overline{j}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k}) - \varphi \lrcorner \overline{\nabla}f \\ &= -g^{i\overline{j}}\big[\nabla_{k}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} + \varphi \lrcorner \partial f\big] = 0, \end{split}$$
(2.1.11)

which leads to $\overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi = 0.$

Remark 7. Under the symmetry $\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$, we have $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi = 2\sqrt{-1\partial}_f^* \varphi \lrcorner \omega_0$.

Before we show the Kuranishi gauge implies the divergence gauge, we need the following lemmas.

Lemma 2.1.3. Let (X_0, ω_0) be a compact Kähler manifold.

(1) If $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0), \ \psi \in A^{1,1}(X_0), \ then$

$$\overline{\partial}(\varphi \lrcorner \psi) = \overline{\partial}\varphi \lrcorner \psi + \varphi \lrcorner \overline{\partial}\psi.$$

(2) If $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0), \ \overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi = 0$, then

$$\overline{\partial}_f^*(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0) = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \mathrm{div}_f \varphi.$$

(3) If $\overline{\partial}(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0) = 0$, $\overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi = 0$, then

$$\Box_f(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0) = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \operatorname{div}_f(\overline{\partial}\varphi) + \varphi \lrcorner (Ric(\omega_0) - \nabla \overline{\nabla}f),$$

where $\Box_f = \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}_f^* + \overline{\partial}_f^*\overline{\partial}$ is the *f*-Hodge Laplacian.

(4) For $\varphi, \psi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, we have

$$[\varphi,\psi] \lrcorner \omega_0 = \varphi \lrcorner \partial(\psi \lrcorner \omega_0) + \psi \lrcorner \partial(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_0).$$

Proof. (1) Let $\varphi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}, \ \psi = \psi_{k\overline{l}} dz^k \wedge d\overline{z}^l$. Then $\varphi \lrcorner \psi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i \psi_{i\overline{l}} d\overline{z}^j \wedge d\overline{z}^l$,

and

$$\overline{\partial}(\varphi \lrcorner \psi) = \left[\partial_{\overline{p}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\psi_{i\overline{l}} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{\overline{p}}\psi_{i\overline{l}}\right]d\overline{z}^{p} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} = \overline{\partial}\varphi \lrcorner \psi + \varphi \lrcorner \overline{\partial}\psi.$$

(2) We adopt the convention of the wedge product as $\eta \wedge \gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\eta \otimes \gamma - \gamma \otimes \eta)$, then

$$\begin{split} \overline{\partial}_{f}^{*}(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}) &= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \Big\{ \partial_{l} \big[(\varphi_{\overline{p}}^{m} g_{m\overline{j}} - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{m} g_{m\overline{p}}) g^{k\overline{p}} \big] g^{l\overline{j}} g_{k\overline{i}} + (\varphi_{\overline{p}}^{m} g_{m\overline{j}} - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{m} g_{m\overline{p}}) g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_{l} f \Big\} d\overline{z}^{i} \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \Big\{ \partial_{l} (\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{m} g_{m\overline{j}} - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{m} g_{m\overline{p}}) g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_{l} f \Big\} d\overline{z}^{i} \\ &+ (\varphi_{\overline{p}}^{m} g_{m\overline{j}} - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{m} g_{m\overline{p}}) g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_{l} f \Big\} d\overline{z}^{i} \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \Big\{ \partial_{l} (\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{m} g_{m\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{j}} + \varphi_{\overline{i}}^{m} \partial_{m} f - \partial_{l} (\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{m} g_{m\overline{i}}) g^{l\overline{j}} - \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{m} g_{m\overline{i}} g^{l\overline{j}} \partial_{l} f \\ &+ \varphi_{\overline{p}}^{m} \partial_{m} g^{k\overline{p}} g_{k\overline{i}} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{m} \partial_{l} g_{m\overline{p}} g^{k\overline{p}} g^{l\overline{j}} g_{k\overline{i}} \Big\} d\overline{z}^{i} \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \Big\{ \operatorname{div}_{f} \varphi, \end{split}$$

$$(2.1.12)$$

where the last equality comes from $\overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi = 0$.

(3)

$$\Box_{f}(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}) = (\overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}_{f}^{*} + \overline{\partial}_{f}^{*}\overline{\partial})(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0})$$

$$= \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}_{f}^{*}(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}) = \overline{\partial}(\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}div_{f}\varphi)$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}\overline{\partial}[(\partial_{i}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{i}\log g + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{i}f)d\overline{z}^{i}]$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}[\partial_{\overline{k}}(\partial_{i}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}) + (\partial_{\overline{k}}\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i})\partial_{i}(\log g + f) + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}(\partial_{\overline{k}}\partial_{i}\log g + \partial_{\overline{k}}\partial_{i}f)]d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j}$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}\operatorname{div}_{f}(\overline{\partial}\varphi) + \varphi \lrcorner (Ric(\omega_{0}) - \nabla\overline{\nabla}f).$$
(2.1.13)

(4) Let
$$\varphi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} d\overline{z}^{j} \otimes \partial_{j}, \ \psi = \psi_{\overline{l}}^{k} d\overline{z}^{l} \otimes \partial_{k}, \ \omega_{0} = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} g_{s\overline{t}} dz^{s} \wedge d\overline{z}^{t}$$
, then

$$[\varphi, \psi] = [\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \partial_{i}(\psi_{\overline{l}}^{k}) + \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \partial_{i}(\varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k})] d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} \otimes \partial_{k} \qquad (2.1.14)$$

So,

$$\begin{split} [\varphi,\psi] \lrcorner \omega_{0} &= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} [\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \partial_{i}(\psi_{\overline{l}}^{k}) + \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \partial_{i}(\varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k})] g_{k\overline{t}} d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} \wedge d\overline{z}^{t} \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} [\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \partial_{i}(\psi_{\overline{l}}^{k}) g_{k\overline{t}} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \psi_{\overline{l}}^{k} \partial_{i}(g_{k\overline{t}}) + \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \partial_{i}(\varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k} g_{k\overline{t}}) + \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k} \partial_{i}(g_{k\overline{t}})] d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} \wedge d\overline{z}^{t} \\ &= \varphi \lrcorner \partial(\psi \lrcorner \omega_{0}) + \psi \lrcorner \partial(\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0}). \end{split}$$

$$(2.1.15)$$

Lemma 2.1.4. Let (X_0, ω_0) be a compact Fano manifold. If $\mu \in A^{0,2}(X_0)$ satisfies $\overline{\partial}\mu = 0$ and $\Box_f \mu = \mu$, then $\mu = 0$.

Proof. Let $\mu = \mu_{\overline{ij}} d\overline{z}^i \wedge d\overline{z}^j$. Then the norm of μ is $|\mu|^2 = \mu_{\overline{ij}} \overline{\mu_{\overline{kl}}} (g^{k\overline{i}} g^{l\overline{j}} - g^{k\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{l}})$. Let the twisted Hodge Laplacian be $\Box_f = \Box - \overline{\partial} \circ i_{\overline{\nabla}f} - i_{\overline{\nabla}f} \circ \overline{\partial}$ and the (1,0) connection Laplacian $\Delta_f = \Delta + \overline{\nabla} f \lrcorner \overline{\partial}$. Since $\overline{\partial} \mu = 0$, the twisted Weitzenböck formula for (0, 2)-form μ reads as:

$$\Box_f \mu + \Delta_f \mu = Ric \circ \mu + \mu \circ Ric - (\nabla \overline{\nabla} f \circ \mu + \mu \circ \nabla \overline{\nabla} f)$$

= $\omega_0 \circ \mu + \mu \circ \omega_0.$ (2.1.16)

By $\Box_f \mu = \mu$, we have

$$\Delta_f \mu = -\mu + \omega_0 \circ \mu + \mu \circ \omega_0. \tag{2.1.17}$$

We also have

$$-\int_{X} |\nabla \mu|^{2} e^{f} dV = \int_{X} <\Delta_{f} \mu, \mu > e^{f} dV$$

$$= \int_{X} <-\mu + \omega_{0} \circ \mu + \mu \circ \omega_{0}, \mu > e^{f} dV$$

$$= \int_{X} |\mu|^{2} e^{f} dV.$$
 (2.1.18)

Hence $\mu = 0$.

In particular, on a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, we also have the following vanishing result.

Corollary 2.1.1. On a compact Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold (X_0, ω_0) , if $\mu \in A^{0,2}(X_0)$ satisfies $\Box \mu = \mu$, then $\mu = 0$.

Proof. For the (0,2) form $\mu = \mu_{\overline{kl}} d\overline{z}^k \wedge d\overline{z}^l$, by the Weitzenböck identity and the Kähler-Einstein condition,

$$\Box \mu + \Delta \mu = \sum_{i} R(e_{i}, e_{\overline{i}}) \mu$$

$$= \sum_{i,p} -R_{i\overline{i}\overline{k}}^{\overline{p}} \mu_{\overline{p}\overline{l}} - R_{i\overline{i}\overline{l}}^{\overline{p}} \mu_{\overline{k}\overline{p}} d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l}$$

$$= \sum_{p,k,l} (R_{p\overline{k}} \mu_{\overline{p}\overline{l}} + R_{p\overline{l}} \mu_{\overline{k}\overline{p}}) d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l}$$

$$= \sum_{p,k,l} (g_{p\overline{k}} \mu_{\overline{p}\overline{l}} + g_{p\overline{l}} \mu_{\overline{k}\overline{p}}) d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l}.$$
(2.1.19)

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |\mu|^2 + <\Delta\mu, \mu > &= <\Box\mu + \Delta\mu, \mu > \\ &= (g_{p\bar{k}}\mu_{\bar{p}\bar{l}} + g_{p\bar{l}}\mu_{\bar{k}\bar{p}})\overline{\mu_{\bar{s}\bar{t}}}g^{s\bar{k}}g^{t\bar{l}} = 2|\mu|^2. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.1.20)$$

and

$$-\int_{X_0} |\nabla \mu|^2 = \int_{X_0} <\Delta \mu, \mu > = \int_{X_0} |\mu|^2$$
(2.1.21)
0.

we conclude that $\mu = 0$.

In the following computation, for the sake of simplifying notations, we assume $B \subset \mathbb{C}$. For the case of $B \subset \mathbb{C}^k$, the computation can be carried out similarly.

Next, we will use induction to show that the f-Kuranishi gauge implies f-Divergence gauge.

Proposition 8. Let (X_0, ω_0) be a compact Fano Kähler manifold, $\varphi(t) = \sum_{i=1} t^i \varphi_i \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ is a family of Beltrami differentials satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi_i &= \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^i [\varphi_j, \varphi_{i-j}] \\ \overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi_i &= 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.1.22)

for all $i \geq 2$, and φ_1 is harmonic with respect to \Box_f -Laplacian. Then $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi_i = 0$ and $\varphi_i \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$ for all $i \geq 1$.

Proof. When i = 1, $\Box_f \varphi_1 = 0$ implies $\overline{\partial} \varphi_1 = 0$, and $\overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi_1 = 0$. By Lemma 2.1.3, $\overline{\partial}(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \omega_0) = \overline{\partial} \varphi_1 \lrcorner \omega_0 + \varphi_1 \lrcorner \overline{\partial} \omega_0 = 0$, and

$$\Box_f(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \omega_0) = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \operatorname{div}_f(\overline{\partial}\varphi_1) + \varphi_1 \lrcorner (\operatorname{Ric}(\omega_0) - \nabla \overline{\nabla} f) = \varphi_1 \lrcorner \omega_0.$$

By Lemma 2.1.4, $\varphi_1 \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$, locally, $\varphi_{\overline{j}}^i g_{i\overline{l}} = \varphi_{\overline{l}}^i g_{i\overline{j}}$. Hence,

$$\operatorname{div}_{f}\varphi = 2\sqrt{-1\partial_{f}^{*}}\varphi \lrcorner \omega_{0} = 0.$$
(2.1.23)

Now assume for $k \leq i - 1$, we have $\varphi_k \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$ and $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi_k = 0$. Then,

$$\overline{\partial}(\varphi_i \lrcorner \omega_0) = \overline{\partial}\varphi_i \lrcorner \omega_0$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} [\varphi_j, \varphi_{i-j}] \lrcorner \omega_0$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \varphi_j \lrcorner \partial(\varphi_{i-j} \lrcorner \omega_0)$$

$$= 0.$$
(2.1.24)

Therefore, we get

$$\Box_{f}(\varphi_{i} \lrcorner \omega_{0}) = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \operatorname{div}(\overline{\partial}\varphi_{i}) + \varphi_{i} \lrcorner (Ric(\omega_{0}) - \nabla\overline{\nabla}f))$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{4} \operatorname{div}(\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} [\varphi_{j}, \varphi_{i-j}]) + \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \omega_{0}$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \varphi_{i-j} \lrcorner \partial(\operatorname{div}\varphi_{i}) + \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \omega_{0}$$

$$= \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \omega_{0}.$$
(2.1.25)

By Lemma 2.1.4, $\varphi_i \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$ and $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi_i = 2\sqrt{-1\partial}_f^* \varphi_i \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$.

By proposition 7 and 8, we have proved

Theorem 2.1.1. On a compact Fano Kähler manifold (X_0, ω_0) , if the Beltrami differential $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ satisfies $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi, \varphi]$, then

 $\overline{\partial}_f^* \varphi = 0$ is equivalent to $\operatorname{div}_f \varphi = 0$.

Furthermore, $\varphi_{\perp}\omega_0 = 0$ when either one of these conditions is imposed.

On a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, we simply take f = 0 to obtain

Corollary 2.1.2. On a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds (X_0, ω_0) , if the Beltrami differential $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ satisfies $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi, \varphi]$ then

 $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = 0$ is equivalent to $\operatorname{div} \varphi = 0$.

Furthermore, $\varphi_{\perp}\omega_0 = 0$ when either one of these conditions is imposed.

Remark 8. In the paper [13], G. Schumacher used the method of harmonic lift to obtain $\varphi_1 \lrcorner \omega_0 = 0$ on the Kähler-Einstein manifold. We point out that in the paper [14], Siu gave the proof of the existence of harmonic lifting vector fields on the total space of the family of the Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general types. Siu's harmonic lift method has the following properties: Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B$ be an analytic family of complex manifolds. Take a local holomorphic coordinate (t^1, \dots, t^n) at a regular point $t \in B$, and let (z^1, \dots, z^n) be holomorphic coordinates on $X_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$. For the holomorphic vector fields $\{\frac{\partial}{\partial z^1}, \dots, \frac{\partial}{\partial z^n}\}$, there exist vector fields on the total space $\{v_1, \dots, v_n\}$, such that

- 1. $\pi(v_i) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t_i}$.
- 2. $\overline{\partial}_t v_i$ is harmonic respectively on the fiber manifold.

Having a harmonic lift is the same as having a canonical smooth trivialization on the total space of the family of deformation manifolds.

2.2 Deformation of the volume form and the Kähler-Einstein form

In this section, we will study the (infinitesimal) deformation of Kähler-Einstein metrics and its volume form under the deformation of the complex structures on the Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold (X_0, ω_0) . Our main result is

Theorem 2.2.1. Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B = \{t \in \mathbb{C} : |t| < \varepsilon\}$ be an analytic family of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds. Suppose $H^0(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0)) = 0$. Then the volume form on the nearby fiber $X_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$ is given by

$$dV_t = \left[1 - |t|^2 \Delta((\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2) + O(|t|^3)\right] dV_0,$$

and the deformed Kähler form is

$$\omega_t = \omega_0 - |t|^2 \left(\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \overline{\partial} (\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2\right) + O(|t|^3),$$

where Δ is the Beltrami-Laplacian on X_0 , ∂ , $\overline{\partial}$ are operators on X_0 , where $\varphi_1 = \mathbb{H}(\varphi) \in H^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$. The Beltrami differential φ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] \\ \operatorname{div}\varphi = 0 \\ \varphi(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.2.1)
According to Futaki's result, on a Fano Kähler manifold, the space of holomorphic vector fields is isomorphic to the 1-eigenspace of the twisted Laplacian. This is precisely stated as follows.

Proposition 9. (Futaki [7]) Let (X_0, ω_0) be a Fano Kähler manifold, such that $R_{i\bar{j}} = g_{i\bar{j}} + \nabla_i \nabla_{\bar{j}} f$. Let $\Delta_f u = \Delta u + \nabla_{\nabla f} u$. Let $T_1 = \{u \in C^{\infty}(X_0) | \Delta_f u + u = 0\}$, $T_2 = H^0(X_0, \mathcal{O}(T^{1,0}X_0))$. Then $T_1 \cong T_2$.

For completeness, we include the proof here.

Proof. For all $u \in T_1$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{X_0} |\nabla \nabla u|^2 e^f dV &= \int_X (\nabla_j \nabla_i u \nabla_{\overline{j}} \nabla_{\overline{i}} u) e^f dV \\ &= -\int_{X_0} \nabla_i u \nabla_j (\nabla_{\overline{j}} \nabla_{\overline{i}} u e^f) dV \\ &= -\int_{X_0} \nabla_i u (\nabla_j \nabla_{\overline{j}} \nabla_{\overline{i}} u + \nabla_{\overline{j}} \nabla_{\overline{i}} u \nabla_j f) e^f dV \\ &= -\int_{X_0} \nabla_j u (\nabla_{\overline{i}} \nabla_j \nabla_{\overline{j}} u + R_{j\overline{i}} \nabla_{\overline{j}} u + \nabla_{\overline{j}} \nabla_{\overline{i}} u \nabla_j f) e^f dV \\ &= -\int_{X_0} \nabla_j u (\nabla_{\overline{i}} \nabla_j \nabla_{\overline{j}} u + (g_{j\overline{i}} + \nabla_j \nabla_{\overline{i}} f) \nabla_{\overline{j}} u + \nabla_{\overline{j}} \nabla_{\overline{i}} u \nabla_j f) e^f dV \\ &= -\int_{X_0} \left[(\Delta_f u)_{\overline{i}} u_i + |\nabla u|^2 \right] e^f dV \\ &= -\int_{X_0} (-|\nabla u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2) e^f dV = 0. \end{split}$$

$$(2.2.2)$$

Therefore, ∇u is a holomorphic vector field; i.e. $\nabla u \in T_2$. And $\nabla : T_1 \to T_2$ is a well-defined operator.

Conversely, let $W \in T_2$. Locally, $W = W^i \frac{\partial}{\partial z^i}$. W is holomorphic; i.e. $\nabla_{\overline{j}} W^i = 0$

for all $j = 1, \dots, n$, div $W = \nabla_i W^i$ and div_f $W = divW + W^i \nabla_i f$.

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{f}(\operatorname{div}_{f}W) &= \Delta(\operatorname{div}W + W^{i}\nabla_{i}f) + < \nabla f, \nabla(\operatorname{div}W + W^{i}\nabla_{i}f) > \\ &= \Delta(\nabla_{i}W^{i} + W^{i}\nabla_{i}f) + \nabla_{j}f\nabla_{\overline{j}}(\nabla_{i}W^{i} + W^{i}\nabla_{i}f) \\ &= \nabla_{j}\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}W^{i} + \nabla_{j}\nabla_{\overline{j}}(W^{i}\nabla_{i}f) + \nabla_{j}f\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}W^{i} + \nabla_{j}f\nabla_{\overline{j}}(W^{i}\nabla_{i}f) \\ &= \nabla_{j}(\nabla_{i}\nabla_{\overline{j}}W^{i} - R_{i\overline{j}}W^{i}) + W^{i}\nabla_{j}\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}f + \nabla_{j}W^{i}\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}f \\ &+ \nabla_{j}f(\nabla_{i}\nabla_{\overline{j}}W^{i} - R_{i\overline{j}}W^{i}) + \nabla_{j}f\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}fW^{i} \\ &= -\nabla_{j}\left[(g_{i\overline{j}} + \nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}f)W^{i}\right] + W^{i}\nabla_{j}\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}f + \nabla_{j}W^{i}\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}f \\ &- \nabla_{j}f\left[(g_{i\overline{j}} + \nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}f)W^{i}\right] + \nabla_{j}f\nabla_{\overline{j}}\nabla_{i}fW^{i} \\ &= -\nabla_{i}W^{i} - W^{i}\nabla_{i}f \\ &= -\operatorname{div}_{f}W. \end{split}$$

$$(2.2.3)$$

Hence, $div: T_2 \to T_1$ is a well-defined operator.

Now, suppose $W = W^i \frac{\partial}{\partial z^i}$ is a holomorphic vector field. Then $\nabla_{\overline{k}} W^i = 0$ for $k = 1, \dots, n$.

$$\nabla_{\overline{k}} \operatorname{div}_{f} W = \nabla_{\overline{k}} (\nabla_{i} W^{i} + W^{i} \nabla_{i} f)$$

$$= \nabla_{\overline{k}} \nabla_{i} W^{i} + W^{i} \nabla_{\overline{k}} \nabla_{i} f$$

$$= -R_{i\overline{k}} W^{i} + W^{i} \nabla_{\overline{k}} \nabla_{i} f = -g_{i\overline{k}} W^{i}.$$

(2.2.4)

We conclude ∇div is injective.

On the other hand, if u satisfies $\Delta_f u + u = 0$, then

$$\operatorname{div}_f(\nabla u) = \partial_i u^i + u^i \partial_i \log \det g + u^i \partial_i f = \Delta_f u = -f.$$

So $\operatorname{div}_{f} \nabla$ is also injective.

Therefore, $T_1 \cong T_2$.

Taking f = 0, and the above argument gives

Corollary 2.2.1. Let (X_0, ω_0) be a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, let $T_1 = \{u \in C^{\infty}(X_0) | \Delta u + u = 0\}$, and $T_2 = H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$. Then $T_1 \cong T_2$.

By this corollary, we know if there are no holomorphic vector fields on the Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, then the operator $\Delta + 1$ is invertible.

Next we give the proof of the main result of this section.

Proof. (of Theorem 2.2.1)

Let (z_1, \dots, z_n) be local holomorphic coordinates on the central fiber (X_0, ω_0) . Then

$$\Omega^{1,0}(X_0) = span\{dz^1, \cdots, dz^n\}.$$

Let $\{e^1, \dots, e^n\}$ be local holomorphic frames on (X_t, ω_t) obtained by the deformation of complex structure. Then by the Kodaira-Spencer's theory, $e^i = dz^i + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j$ and

$$\Omega^{1,0}(X_t) = span\{e^1, \cdots, e^n\}.$$

Let (w_1, \dots, w_n) be local holomorphic coordinates on (X_t, ω_t) . Then

$$dw^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}} dz^{i} + \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{z}_{i}} d\overline{z}^{i}$$

$$= \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}} dz^{i} + \varphi_{\overline{i}}^{j} \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j}} d\overline{z}^{i}$$

$$= \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}} (dz^{i} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} d\overline{z}^{j}) = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}} e^{i}.$$

(2.2.5)

Let $A = (a_{\alpha i})_{n \times n} = (\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_i})_{n \times n}$, $|A| = \det A$, $c_n = (-1)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} (\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2})^n$, and if g_0 is the Kähler metric on the central fiber X_0 . Then

$$dV_0 = c_n \det g_0 dz^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dz^n \wedge d\overline{z}^1 \wedge \dots \wedge d\overline{z}^n$$
(2.2.6)

Let

$$d\tilde{V}_t = c_n \det g_0 e^1 \wedge \dots \wedge e^n \wedge \overline{e}^1 \wedge \dots \wedge \overline{e}^n$$

= $det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) dV_0.$ (2.2.7)

There is a unique function $f = f(z, \overline{z}, t, \overline{t}) \in C^{\infty}(X_0 \times B)$ with $f(z, \overline{z}, 0) = 0$ such that the volume form on the deformed manifold X_t is given by

$$dV_t = e^f d\tilde{V}_t = e^f \det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) dV_0$$

= $c_n e^f \det g_0 |A|^{-2} dw^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dw^n \wedge d\overline{w}^1 \dots \wedge d\overline{w}^n$ (2.2.8)
= $c_n \det g_t dw^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dw^n \wedge d\overline{w}^1 \dots \wedge d\overline{w}^n$,

where g_t is the Kähler metric on the deformed manifold X_t . Hence,

$$detg_t = e^f \det g_0 |A|^{-2}.$$
 (2.2.9)

On the other hand, as we can see, all terms related to t in the deformed volume form are contained in $e^f \det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})$. The expansion of φ about t comes from the power series solution to the deformation equation of the complex structure. To figure out the expansion of e^f about t, we study the deformed Monge - Ampère equation:

$$\left(-\frac{\partial^2}{\partial w_\alpha \partial \overline{w}_\beta} \log dV_t\right)^n = dV_t. \tag{2.2.10}$$

Since

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial z_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} + \frac{\partial \overline{z}_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_i}, \qquad (2.2.11)$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial z_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} & \frac{\partial \overline{z}_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \\ \frac{\partial z_i}{\partial \overline{w}_{\alpha}} & \frac{\partial \overline{z}_i}{\partial \overline{w}_{\alpha}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_i} & \frac{\partial \overline{w}_{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{z}_i} \\ \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{z}_i} & \frac{\partial \overline{w}_{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{z}_i} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \cdot \\ (1 - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ij} \text{, and } \frac{\partial \overline{z}_i}{\partial \overline{z}_i} = -(\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial \overline{z}_i})^{-1} (I - \varphi)^{-1} \cdot (I - \varphi)^{-1} (I - \varphi)^{-1} \cdot (I - \varphi)^$$

So, $\frac{\partial z_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} = (\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_j})^{-1} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ij}$, and $\frac{\partial \overline{z}_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} = -(\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_j})^{-1} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{kj} \overline{\varphi_k^i}$. We get

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}} = \left(\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j}}\right)^{-1} \left(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}\right)^{ij} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}} - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{k}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_{k}}\right).$$
(2.2.12)

Now, let $a_{i\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_i}$, $b^{i\alpha} = (\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_i})^{-1}$, we define the operator

$$T = T_t : C^{\infty}(X_0) \to A^{1,0}(X_0)$$

by $T(f) = \partial f - \overline{\varphi(t)} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} f$. Locally, T is given by $T(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} T_i(f) dz^i$ and $T_i f = \partial_i f - \overline{\varphi_i^j} \partial_{\overline{j}} f$. From (2.2.9),

$$\log \det g_t = f + \log g_0 - \log A - \log A.$$

Using $\operatorname{div}\varphi = 0$, we compute,

$$T_i \log A = b^{i\alpha} (I - \overline{\varphi}\varphi)_{il} \partial_j a_{l\alpha} + \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^k} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^l \partial_l \log g_0.$$
(2.2.13)

And

$$\overline{T_i} \log A = -\varphi_{\overline{i}}^k \partial_k \log g_0. \tag{2.2.14}$$

Then

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}}\log\det g_{t} = \frac{\partial z_{i}}{\partial w_{\alpha}}T_{i}(f + \log g_{0}) - b^{j\alpha}b^{k\alpha}\partial_{j}a_{k\alpha} - \frac{\partial z_{i}}{\partial w_{\alpha}}\left[\overline{\varphi_{\bar{i}}^{k}}\varphi_{\bar{k}}^{l}\partial_{l}\log g_{0} - \overline{\varphi_{\bar{i}}^{k}}\partial_{\bar{k}}\log g_{0}\right].$$
(2.2.15)

Now, we compute

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{w}_{\beta}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \log \det g_{t} \right) = \frac{\partial \overline{z}_{p}}{\partial \overline{w}_{\beta}} T_{\overline{p}} \left\{ \frac{\partial z_{i}}{\partial w_{\alpha}} T_{i} (f + \log g_{0}) - b^{j\alpha} b^{k\alpha} \partial_{j} a_{k\alpha} - \frac{\partial z_{i}}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \left[\overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{k}} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{l} \partial_{l} \log g_{0} - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{k}} \partial_{\overline{k}} \log g_{0} \right] \right\}$$

$$(2.2.16)$$

Firstly, using Kähler-Einstein condition, we obtain

$$T_{\overline{p}}\left(\frac{\partial z_{i}}{\partial w_{\alpha}}T_{i}(f+\log g_{0})\right) = T_{\overline{p}}(b^{j\alpha})(I-\varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}T_{i}(f) + b^{j\alpha}T_{\overline{p}}(I-\varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}T_{i}(f) + b^{j\alpha}(I-\varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}[-g_{i\overline{p}}-\varphi_{\overline{p}}^{q}\overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{k}}g_{q\overline{k}} + T_{\overline{p}}T_{i}f].$$

$$(2.2.17)$$

Secondly,

$$T_{\overline{p}}(b^{k\alpha}b^{j\alpha}\partial_j a_{k\alpha}) = 0.$$
(2.2.18)

Thirdly,

$$T_{\overline{p}} \Big[\frac{\partial z_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} (\overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^k} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^l \partial_l \log g_0 - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^k} \partial_{\overline{k}} \log g_0) \Big] = -\frac{\partial z_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \Big[\overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^k} \varphi_{\overline{k}}^l g_{l\overline{p}} + \varphi_{\overline{p}}^q \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^k} g_{g\overline{k}} \Big].$$
(2.2.19)

Finally, we obtain

$$-\frac{\partial^2}{\partial w_\alpha \partial \overline{w}_\beta} \log \det g_t = \frac{\partial \overline{z}_p}{\partial \overline{w}_\beta} b^{j\alpha} \Big[g_{j\overline{p}} + \partial_j (\varphi_{\overline{p}}^k) (I - \varphi_{\overline{\varphi}})^{ik} T_i(f) - T_{\overline{p}} [(I - \varphi_{\overline{\varphi}})^{ij} T_i(f)] \Big].$$
(2.2.20)

We define a local matrix $B = (B_{j\overline{p}})_{n \times n}$ to be

$$B_{j\overline{p}} = g_{j\overline{p}} + (\partial_j \varphi_{\overline{p}}^k) (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ik} T_i(f) - T_{\overline{p}} [(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ij} T_i(f)].$$
(2.2.21)

Then the deformed Monge - Ampère equation can be written as

$$\det B_{j\overline{p}} = e^f \det g_0 \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi}) \tag{2.2.22}$$

Notice that $B_{j\overline{p}}(0) = g_{j\overline{p}}$, f(0) = 0, and $\varphi(0) = 0$, so

$$\frac{\partial B_{j\overline{p}}}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} = -\partial_j \partial_{\overline{p}} \Big(\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0}\Big).$$
(2.2.23)

By equation (2.2.22),

$$(\Delta+1)\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0}\right) = 0.$$
(2.2.24)

By corollary 2.2.1, the operator $\Delta + 1$ has trivial kernel, which yields $\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}|_{t=0} = 0$. Similarly, $\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}|_{t=0} = 0$, and all the first order terms vanish. For the second order, first we have

$$\frac{\partial^2 B_{j\overline{p}}}{\partial t^2}\Big|_{t=0} = -\partial_j \partial_{\overline{p}} \Big(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t^2}\Big|_{t=0}\Big), \qquad (2.2.25)$$

and

$$(\Delta+1)\left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t^2}\Big|_{t=0}\right) = 0.$$
(2.2.26)

Hence, $\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t^2}|_{t=0} = 0$. Similarly, $\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial \bar{t}^2}|_{t=0} = 0$.

For the mixed derivative term, we have

$$\frac{\partial B_{j\overline{p}}}{\partial t \partial \overline{t}}\big|_{t=0} = -\partial_j \partial_{\overline{p}} \big(\frac{\partial f}{\partial t \partial \overline{t}} \big|_{t=0} \big), \qquad (2.2.27)$$

and

$$(\Delta+1)\left(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}}\Big|_{t=0}\right) = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} = |\varphi_1|^2.$$
(2.2.28)

 $\Delta+1$ is invertible, so

$$\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t \partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} = (\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2.$$
(2.2.29)

Up to the second order, we obtain the expansion for f:

$$f = |t|^2 (\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2 + O(|t|^3), \qquad (2.2.30)$$

and

$$e^{f} = 1 + |t|^{2} (\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_{1}|^{2} + O(|t|^{3}).$$
(2.2.31)

On the other hand, by the deformation equation of the complex structures,

$$\det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi}) = 1 - |t|^2 |\varphi_1|^2 + O(|t|^3).$$
(2.2.32)

Hence, the expansion of the volume form can be written as (up to the second order),

$$dV_t = (1 - |t|^2 \Delta (\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2 + O(|t|^3)) dV_0.$$
(2.2.33)

Finally, we calculate the Taylor expansion of the Kähler form.

$$\omega_t = Ric(\omega_t) = -\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial_t \overline{\partial}_t \log dV_t$$

$$= -\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial w_\alpha \partial \overline{w}_\beta} (f + \log \det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) + \log \det g_0) dw^\alpha \wedge d\overline{w}^\beta.$$
(2.2.34)

Using the above Taylor expansion of f and $\det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})$ and

$$\begin{cases} dw^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}} (dz^{i} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} d\overline{z}^{j}) \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial w^{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial z_{i}}{\partial w_{\alpha}} T_{i} = (\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}})^{-1} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ik} (\frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}} - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_{j}}), \end{cases}$$
(2.2.35)

we obtain

$$\omega_t = \omega_0 - |t|^2 \left(\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \overline{\partial} (\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2\right) + O(|t|^3).$$
 (2.2.36)

Where Δ , ∂ , $\overline{\partial}$ are operators on the central fiber (X_0, ω_0) .

2.3 Deformation of plurianticanonical sections

We assume that the analytic family of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds is given by $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B \subset \mathbb{C}$, and $\sigma : K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-1} \to \mathscr{X}$ is the relative anticanonical line bundle on the total space. For any $t \in B$, $K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-1}|_t \cong K_{X_t}^{-1}$. For each $m \ge 1$, the direct image sheaf is $R^0\pi_*(K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-m}) \to B$. Let $E = \bigcup_{t \in B} E_t \times \{t\}$, where $E_t = H^0(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$. It is well-known that $R^0\pi_*(K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-m})$ is isomorphic to E.

In this section, our goal is to establish an L^2 -metric on $R^0\pi_*(K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-m})$. But, first of all, we will study the holomorphic sections of $K_{X_t}^{-m} \to X_t$ in terms of the deformation of the complex structure.

On the central fiber $\pi^{-1}(0) = (X_0, \omega_0)$ of an analytic family of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B$, let (z_1, \cdots, z_n) be local holomorphic coordinates. Then locally $\Omega^{1,0}(X_0) = span\{dz^1, \cdots, dz^n\}$ and $T^{1,0}X_0 = span\{\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1}, \cdots, \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n}\}$. By the deformation theory, $\Omega^{1,0}(X_t) = span\{e^1, \cdots, e^n\}$ where $e^i = dz^i + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j$, and $T^{1,0}X_t = span\{e_1, \cdots, e_n\}$ where $e_i = (I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ki}(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} - \overline{\varphi_k^l}\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z_l}})$. Furthermore, if (w_1, \dots, w_n) are local holomorphic coordinates on X_t , by the formula (2.2.5) and (2.2.12),

$$\begin{cases} dw^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}} (dz^{i} + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} d\overline{z}^{j}) = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}} e^{i} \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial w^{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial z_{i}}{\partial w_{\alpha}} T_{i} = (\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}})^{-1} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ik} (\partial_{i} - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{j}} \partial_{\overline{j}}) = (\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}})^{-1} e_{i}. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.1)

Let $s \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$ be a smooth section of the plurianticanonical line bundle on the central manifold; locally, $s = \eta(z)(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} \wedge \cdots \rightarrow \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n})^m$. Let the deformed section on $K_{X_t}^{-m}$ be given by $s(t) = \eta(z)(e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_n)^m = \eta(z)|A|^m(\frac{\partial}{\partial w_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial w_n})^m$ where $|A| = \det(\frac{\partial w_\alpha}{\partial z_i}).$

Lemma 2.3.1. Choosing the divergence gauge, i.e. $\operatorname{div}\varphi = 0$ for $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, we have $s(t) \in H^0(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$ if and only if

$$\overline{\partial}s = \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s. \tag{2.3.2}$$

Here, ∇ is the connection on $K_{X_0}^{-m} \to X_0$ and $\overline{\partial}$ is the operator on the central fiber (X_0, ω_0) .

Proof. Let $\overline{\partial}_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{w}_{\alpha}} \otimes d\overline{w}_{\alpha}$. Then $s(t) \in H^0(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$ if and only if $\overline{\partial}_t s(t) = 0$ i.e. $\overline{\frac{\partial z_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}}}\overline{T_i}s(t) = 0$. If $\overline{\frac{\partial z_i}{\partial w_{\alpha}}}\overline{T_i}s(t) = 0$, then

$$0 = \overline{T_i}s(t) = (\partial_{\overline{i}} - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j)s(t) = (\partial_{\overline{i}} - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j) [\eta(z)|A|^m]$$

= $(\partial_{\overline{i}}\eta(z) - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j\eta(z))|A|^m + \eta(z) [m|A|^m \partial_{\overline{i}} \log|A| - m|A|^m \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j \log|A|].$ (2.3.3)

Because of $\operatorname{div}\varphi = 0$, we have

$$0 = (\partial_{\bar{i}}\eta(z) - \varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\partial_{j}\eta(z)) + m\eta(z)[b^{k\alpha}\partial_{\bar{i}}a_{\alpha k} - b^{k\alpha}\varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\partial_{j}a_{\alpha k}]$$

$$= (\partial_{\bar{i}}\eta(z) - \varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\partial_{j}\eta(z)) + m\eta(z)[b^{k\alpha}\partial_{k}(\varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}a_{\alpha j}) - b^{k\alpha}\varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\partial_{j}a_{\alpha k}]$$

$$= (\partial_{\bar{i}}\eta(z) - \varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\partial_{j}\eta(z)) + m\eta(z)\partial_{j}\varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}$$

$$= \partial_{\bar{i}}\eta(z) - \varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\partial_{j}\eta(z) - \eta(z)\varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\partial_{j}\log g_{0}^{m}$$

$$= \partial_{\bar{i}}\eta(z) - \varphi_{\bar{i}}^{j}\nabla_{j}s.$$

$$(2.3.4)$$

Hence, $\overline{\partial}s - \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s = 0$. Conversely, if we trace back the above identities, we can see that $\overline{\partial}s - \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s = 0$ implies $\overline{\partial}_t s(t) = 0$.

Equation (2.3.2) is the obstruction equation of deformations of holomorphic sections. Next, we will show equation (2.3.2) is solvable based on Hodge theory.

Lemma 2.3.2. Let (X, ω_g) be a compact Hermitian manifold. For $\alpha \in A^{p,q}(X)$, $\beta \in A^{p,q+1}(X)$, $\overline{\partial}\alpha = \beta$ is solvable if and only if $\overline{\partial}\beta = 0$ and $\mathbb{H}(\beta) = 0$.

Proof. If $\overline{\partial}\alpha = \beta$, then $\overline{\partial}\beta = \overline{\partial}^2\alpha = 0$ and $\mathbb{H}(\beta) = \mathbb{H}\overline{\partial}\alpha = 0$.

Conversely, by Hodge decomposition, if $\mathbb{H}\beta = 0$ and $\overline{\partial}\beta = 0$, we have

$$\beta = \mathbb{H}\beta + \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^* G\beta + \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} G\beta = \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^* G\beta, \qquad (2.3.5)$$

and $\alpha = \overline{\partial}^* G \beta$ is such a solution.

Lemma 2.3.3. If (X_0, ω_0) is a Fano manifold, then for $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ and $s \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$, we have $\mathbb{H}(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) = 0$

Proof. (X_0, ω_0) is Fano, so $K_{X_0}^{-m} \to X_0$ is ample. By the Kodaira vanishing theorem,

$$H^{q}(X_{0}, K_{X_{0}}^{-m}) = H^{q}(X_{0}, K_{X_{0}}^{-m-1} \otimes K_{X_{0}}) = 0$$
(2.3.6)

for all $q \ge 1$. This yields to $\mathbb{H}(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) = 0$.

Next, we will show $\overline{\partial}(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) = 0$ by the iteration method. First, we have

Lemma 2.3.4. On a Kähler manifold (X_0, ω_0) , for $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ and $s \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$, we have

(1) $\overline{\partial}(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) = \overline{\partial} \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s + \varphi \lrcorner \overline{\partial}(\nabla s).$ (2) $\overline{\partial}(\nabla s) = -\nabla(\overline{\partial}s) - 2\sqrt{-1} mRic_0 \otimes s.$

Proof. For (1), let $\varphi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$, and $s = \eta(z)e^m$ where $e = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} \wedge \cdots \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n}$. Then,

$$\nabla s = (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) dz^k \otimes e^m,$$

$$arphi \lrcorner
abla s = arphi^i_{\overline{j}} (\partial_i \eta + \eta \partial_i \log g_0^m) d\overline{z}^j \otimes e^m,$$

and

$$\overline{\partial}(\nabla s) = -[\partial_{\overline{l}}\partial_k\eta + \partial_{\overline{l}}\eta\partial_k\log g_0^m + \eta\partial_{\overline{l}}\partial_k\log g_0^m]dz^k \wedge d\overline{z}^l \otimes e^m$$

So,

$$\begin{split} \overline{\partial}(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) &= [\partial_{\overline{k}}\varphi^{i}_{\overline{j}}(\partial_{i}\eta + \eta\partial_{i}\log g^{m}_{0}) + \varphi^{i}_{\overline{j}}(\partial_{\overline{k}}\partial_{i}\eta + \partial_{\overline{k}}\eta\partial_{i}\log g^{m}_{0} + \eta\partial_{\overline{k}}\partial_{i}\log g^{m}_{0})]d\overline{z}^{k} \wedge d\overline{z}^{j} \otimes e^{m} \\ &= \overline{\partial}\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s + \varphi \lrcorner \overline{\partial}(\nabla s). \end{split}$$

For (2),

$$\overline{\partial}(\nabla s) = (\partial_{\overline{i}}\partial_k\eta + \partial_{\overline{i}}\eta\partial_k\log g_0^m + \eta\partial_{\overline{i}}\partial_k\log g_0^m)d\overline{z}^i \wedge dz^k \otimes e^m.$$
(2.3.7)
$$\nabla(\overline{\partial}s) = (\partial_k\partial_{\overline{i}}\eta + \partial_{\overline{i}}\eta\partial_k\log g_0^m)dz^k \wedge d\overline{z}^i \otimes e^m$$
(2.3.8)

$$= -(\partial_k \partial_{\overline{i}} \eta + \partial_{\overline{i}} \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) d\overline{z}^i \wedge dz^k \otimes e^m.$$

$$(2.3.8)$$

Therefore,

$$\overline{\partial}(\nabla s) = -\nabla(\overline{\partial}s) - 2\sqrt{-1}mRic_0 \otimes s.$$

Now let $\varphi = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} t^i \varphi_i$ with $\varphi_1 \in H^1(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, and let $s = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} t^i s_i$ with s_0 holomorphic. Then $\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t^k (\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s)_k$, where $(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s)_k = \sum_{i=1}^k \varphi_i \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i}$. We point out there is no zeroth order term.

For the first order term,

Lemma 2.3.5. On a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, with $div\varphi = 0$, we have

$$\overline{\partial}(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla s_0) = 0. \tag{2.3.9}$$

Proof. φ_1 is harmonic, s_0 is holomorphic and div $\varphi = 0$, so

$$\overline{\partial}(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla s_0) = \overline{\partial}\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla s_0 + \varphi_1 \lrcorner \overline{\partial}(\nabla s_0) = \varphi_1 \lrcorner \overline{\partial}(\nabla s_0)$$

$$= \varphi_1 \lrcorner (-\nabla \overline{\partial} s_0 - 2\sqrt{-1} \ mRic_0 \otimes s_0))$$

$$= -\varphi_1 \lrcorner (2\sqrt{-1} \ m\omega_0 \otimes s_0)$$

$$= -2\sqrt{-1} \ m(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \omega_0) \otimes s_0 = 0.$$
(2.3.10)

The last equality is from $\varphi_{\perp}\omega_0 = 0$ on a Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold by Corollary 2.1.2.

To compute higher order terms, firstly, we note the following Lemma.

Lemma 2.3.6. On a Kähler manifold (X_0, ω_0) , for φ , $\psi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, $s \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$, we have

$$\varphi \lrcorner \nabla (\psi \lrcorner \nabla s) + \psi \lrcorner (\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) = [\varphi, \psi] \lrcorner \nabla s.$$
(2.3.11)

Proof. Locally, $\varphi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i} d\overline{z}^{j} \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}}, \ \psi = \psi_{\overline{l}}^{k} d\overline{z}^{l} \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{k}}, \ s = \eta(z)e^{m}$, so that

 $\nabla s = (\partial_p \eta + \eta \partial_p \log g_0^m) dz^p \otimes e^m$ $\psi \lrcorner \nabla s = \psi_{\bar{l}}^k (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) d\bar{z}^l \otimes e^m$

$$\nabla(\psi \lrcorner \nabla s) = \left[\partial_p [\psi_{\bar{l}}^k (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m)] + \psi_{\bar{l}}^k (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) \partial_p \log g_0^m \right] dz^p \wedge d\overline{z}^l \otimes e^m$$

$$\varphi \lrcorner \nabla(\psi \lrcorner \nabla s) = \left[\varphi_{\bar{j}}^i \partial_i (\psi_{\bar{l}}^k (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m)) + \varphi_{\bar{j}}^i \psi_{\bar{l}}^k (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) \partial_i \log g_0^m \right] d\overline{z}^j \wedge d\overline{z}^l \otimes e^m$$

$$= \left[\varphi_{\bar{j}}^i (\partial_i \psi_{\bar{l}}^k) (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m)) + \varphi_{\bar{j}}^i \psi_{\bar{l}}^k (\partial_i \partial_k \eta + \partial_i \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) + \varphi_{\bar{j}}^i \psi_{\bar{l}}^k (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) \partial_i \log g_0^m \right] d\overline{z}^j \wedge d\overline{z}^l \otimes e^m$$

$$(2.3.12)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \psi \lrcorner \nabla(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) &= \left[\psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \partial_{i}(\varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k}(\partial_{k}\eta + \eta \partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m})) + \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k}(\partial_{k}\eta + \eta \partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m})\partial_{i}\log g^{m}\right] d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} \otimes e^{m} \\ &= \left[\psi_{\overline{j}}^{i}(\partial_{i} \varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k})(\partial_{k}\eta + \eta \partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m})) + \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k}(\partial_{i} \partial_{k}\eta + \partial_{i} \eta \partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m}) \\ &+ \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i} \varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k}(\partial_{k}\eta + \eta \partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m})\partial_{i}\log g_{0}^{m}\right] d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} \otimes e^{m}. \end{split}$$

$$(2.3.13)$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{\neg}\nabla(\psi_{\neg}\nabla s) + \psi_{\neg}\nabla(\varphi_{\neg}\nabla s) \\ = & [\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}(\partial_{i}\psi_{\overline{l}}^{k}) + \psi_{\overline{j}}^{i}(\partial_{i}\varphi_{\overline{l}}^{k})](\partial_{k}\eta + \eta\partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m})d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} \otimes e^{m} \\ & + [\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\psi_{\overline{l}}^{k}(\partial_{i}\eta\partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m} - \partial_{k}\eta\partial_{i}\log g_{0}^{m}) + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{i}\psi_{\overline{l}}^{k}(\partial_{k}\eta\partial_{i}\log g_{0}^{m} - \partial_{i}\eta\partial_{k}\log g_{0}^{m})]d\overline{z}^{j} \wedge d\overline{z}^{l} \otimes e^{m} \\ = & [\varphi,\psi]_{\neg}\nabla s. \end{split}$$

$$(2.3.14)$$

41

Lemma 2.3.7. When $k \ge 2$, for the k-th order term, we have $\overline{\partial}(\sum_{i=1}^{k} \varphi_i \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i}) = 0$.

Proof.

$$\overline{\partial} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i} \right) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \overline{\partial} (\varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i})$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\overline{\partial} \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i} + \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} (\nabla s_{k-i}) \right)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\overline{\partial} \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i} - \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla (\overline{\partial} s_{k-i}) - \varphi_{i} \lrcorner 2\sqrt{-1} \ m\omega_{0} \otimes s_{k-i} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\overline{\partial} \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i} - \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla (\sum_{j=1}^{k-i} \varphi_{j} \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i-j}) \right)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\overline{\partial} \varphi_{i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{i} [\varphi_{j}, \varphi_{i-j}] \right) \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i} = 0.$$
(2.3.15)

The last equality is from the deformation equation.

Based on Lemma 2.3.5 and Lemma 2.3.7, we have proved

Lemma 2.3.8. On the Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, for $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, $s \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$ and $div\varphi = 0$, we have $\overline{\partial}(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s) = 0$.

Proposition 10. The obstruction equation $\overline{\partial}s = \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s$ for $s \in \Gamma(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$ is solvable.

Proof. This follows from lemma 2.3.2, lemma 2.3.3 and lemma 2.3.8. \Box

Next, we construct the power series solution to $\overline{\partial}s = \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s$.

Theorem 2.3.1. Let $s_0 \in H^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$. For |t| small enough, there exists a unique convergent power series $s(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} t^i s_i \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$ such that, $s(0) = s_0$, $\mathbb{H}(s_i) = 0$ for $i \ge 1$ and s(t) satisfies $\overline{\partial} s = \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s$.

Proof. Let G be the Green's operator on $K_{X_0}^{-m} \to X_0$ associate to the Hodge Laplacian \Box . We will construct s_i for $i \ge 1$ so that $s(t) = s_0 + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} t^i s_i$ is the solution to $\overline{\partial}s = \varphi \lrcorner \nabla s$.

By Hodge theory,

$$s = s_0 + \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^* Gs + \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} Gs$$

= $s_0 + \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} Gs$ (2.3.16)
= $s_0 + \overline{\partial}^* G(\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s).$

Comparing coefficients up to t^k , we obtain a formal power series solution as follows:

$$\begin{cases} s_{1} = \overline{\partial}^{*} G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla s_{0}) \\ s_{2} = \overline{\partial}^{*} G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla s_{1} + \varphi_{2} \lrcorner \nabla s_{0}) \\ \vdots \\ s_{k} = \overline{\partial}^{*} G(\sum_{i=1}^{k} \varphi_{i} \lrcorner \nabla s_{k-i}) \\ \vdots \end{cases}$$
(2.3.17)

Next, we show the formal power series is convergent in the $H\ddot{o}lder$ Space $C^{k,\alpha}$ if |t|

is sufficiently small.

$$s_{i} \|_{k+\alpha} = \|\overline{\partial}^{*}G(\sum_{j=1}^{i} \varphi_{j} \lrcorner \nabla s_{i-j})\|_{k+\alpha}$$

$$\leq C \|G\sum_{j=1}^{i} (\varphi_{j} \lrcorner \nabla s_{i-j})\|_{k+\alpha+1}$$

$$\leq C \|\sum_{j=1}^{i} (\varphi_{j} \lrcorner \nabla s_{i-j})\|_{k+\alpha-1}$$

$$\leq C \sum_{j=1}^{i} \|\varphi_{j} \lrcorner \nabla s_{i-j}\|_{k+\alpha-1}$$

$$\leq C \sum_{j=1}^{i} \|\varphi_{j}\|_{k+\alpha-1} \|\nabla s_{i-j}\|_{k+\alpha-1}$$

$$\leq C \sum_{j=1}^{i} \|\varphi_{j}\|_{k+\alpha} \|s_{i-j}\|_{k+\alpha}.$$

$$(2.3.18)$$

There exist $C_1 > 0$ and $0 < \epsilon_1 < \epsilon$, such that $\epsilon_1^j \|\varphi_j\|_{k+\alpha} \leq C_1$. Then,

$$\|s_i\|_{k+\alpha} \le CC_1(CC_1+1)^{i-1}\epsilon_1^{-i}.$$

Therefore, s(t) converges if $|t| < \frac{\epsilon_1}{CC_1+1}$.

2.4 L^2 -metric on the direct image sheaf

Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B$ be an analytic family of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds, and $\sigma : K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-1} \to \mathscr{X}$ is the relative anticanonical line bundle over the total space. For any $t \in B, K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-1}|_t \cong K_{X_t}^{-1}$. For each $m \ge 1$, the direct image sheaf is $R^0\pi_*(K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-m}) \to B$. Let $E = \bigcup_{t \in B} E_t \times \{t\}$, where $E_t = H^0(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$. It is known that $R^0\pi_*(K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-m})$ is isomorphic to E.

Take a basis $\{S_0^1, \cdots, S_0^{N_m}\} \in H^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$, where $N_m = \dim H^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$. Let $S^{\alpha}(t) = S_0^{\alpha} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} t^i S_i^{\alpha} \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$ satisfying $\overline{\partial}S^{\alpha}(t) = \varphi \lrcorner \nabla S^{\alpha}(t)$, where $S_0^{\alpha} \in H^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$, $\alpha = 1, \dots, N_m$. Define $\sigma_t : A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m}) \to A^0(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$ to be $\sigma_t(S(t)) = [\det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{-1} e^{-\overline{\varphi}(t)} \lrcorner (S(t))^{\frac{1}{m}}]^m$.

-	_	_	

Then, σ_t is a well-defined linear isomorphism. Locally, if $S(t) = \eta(z)(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n})^m$, then $\sigma_t(S(t)) = \eta(z)(e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_n)^m$. Moreover, $\sigma_t(S^{\alpha}(t)) \in H^0(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$ for $\alpha = 1, \ldots N_m$. The pointwise L^2 -metric on $R^0 \pi_*(K_{\mathscr{X}/B}^{-m}) \to B$ is defined by $< \sigma_t(S^{\alpha}(t)), \sigma_t(S^{\beta}(t)) >_{g_t^m}$, where g_t is the determinant of the metric on X_t .

Definition 2.4.1. The L²-metric on $E_t = H^0(X_t, K_{X_t}^{-m})$ is defined to be

$$h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(t) = \int_{X_t} \langle \sigma_t(S^{\alpha}(t)), \sigma_t(S^{\beta}(t)) \rangle_{g_t^m} \, dV_t.$$
(2.4.1)

Firstly, we will derive the Taylor expansion of the L^2 metric about t, from which the curvature tensor follows immediately.

Lemma 2.4.1.

$$h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(t) = \int_{X_0} \langle S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) \rangle_{g_0^m} e^{(m+1)f} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi}) dV_0.$$
(2.4.2)

Proof. Let $S^{\alpha} = \eta^{\alpha}(z)(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n})^m$, $S^{\beta} = \eta^{\beta}(z)(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n})^m$, $\sigma_t(S^{\gamma}(t)) = \eta^{\gamma}(z)(e_1 \wedge \dots \wedge e_n)^m$ with $e_i = (I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ik}(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} - \overline{\varphi_k^l}\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z_l}})$. Then

$$e_1 \wedge \dots \wedge e_n \wedge \overline{e}_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \overline{e}_n = \det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{-1} (\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial z_n} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_n}), \quad (2.4.3)$$

and

$$dV_t = e^f d\tilde{V}_t = e^f \det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) dV_0.$$
(2.4.4)

So,

$$<\sigma_t(S^{\alpha}(t)), \sigma_t(S^{\beta}(t))>_{g_t^m} = e^{mf} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t)>_{g_0^m}.$$
 (2.4.5)

And,

$$h_{\alpha\beta}(t) = \int_{X_0} \langle S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) \rangle_{g_0^m} e^{(m+1)f} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi}) dV_0.$$
(2.4.6)

Lemma 2.4.2. For $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, $s \in A^0(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$, we have

$$\operatorname{div}(\varphi \otimes \mathbf{s}) = (\operatorname{div}\varphi) \otimes \mathbf{s} + \varphi \lrcorner \nabla \mathbf{s}. \tag{2.4.7}$$

Proof. Locally, $\varphi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \partial_i$, $s = \eta(z)e^m$. So $\nabla s = (\partial_k \eta + \eta \partial_k \log g_0^m) dz^k \otimes e^m$ and

$$\begin{aligned}
\varphi \lrcorner \nabla s &= \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} (\partial_{k} \eta + \eta \partial_{k} \log g_{0}^{m}) d\overline{z}^{j} \otimes e^{m} \\
&= [\partial_{k} (\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} \eta) - \eta \partial_{k} \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} + \eta \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} \partial_{k} \log g_{0}^{m}] d\overline{z}^{j} \otimes e^{m} \\
&= [\partial_{k} (\varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} \eta) + \eta \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} \partial_{k} \log g_{0}^{m+1} - \eta \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k} \partial_{k} \log g_{0} - \eta \partial_{k} \varphi_{\overline{j}}^{k}] d\overline{z}^{j} \otimes e^{m} \\
&= \operatorname{div}(\varphi \otimes s) - (\operatorname{div}\varphi) \otimes s.
\end{aligned}$$
(2.4.8)

Lemma 2.4.3. If $\eta = \eta_{\overline{k}} d\overline{z}^k \otimes e^m \in A^{0,1}(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$ satisfies $\overline{\partial} \eta = 0$, then

$$\operatorname{div}^* \eta = -\partial_{\overline{p}}(\eta_{\overline{i}} g^{qi}) d\overline{z}^p \otimes \partial_q \otimes e^m$$
(2.4.9)

and $\overline{\partial}(\operatorname{div}^*\eta) = 0.$

Proof. div : $A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0 \otimes K_{X_0}^{-m}) \rightarrow A^{0,1}(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$ and div^{*} : $A^{0,1}(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m}) \rightarrow A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0 \otimes K_{X_0}^{-m})$. First, we find a local expression for div^{*}.

Let $\psi = \psi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m$ and $\eta = \eta_{\overline{k}} d\overline{z}^k \otimes e^m$. Then, $\operatorname{div} \psi = (\partial_i \psi_{\overline{j}}^i + \psi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i \log g_0^{m+1}) d\overline{z}^j \otimes e^m$. Let $\operatorname{div}^* \eta = A_{\overline{k}}^l d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_l \otimes e^m$.

By definition,

$$\int_{X_0} < \operatorname{div}^* \eta, \psi > dV_0 = \int_{X_0} < \eta, \operatorname{div} \psi > dV_0, \qquad (2.4.10)$$

$$\begin{split} L.H.S. &= \int_{X_0} < A_{\overline{k}}^l d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_l \otimes e^m, \psi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m > dV_0 \\ &= \int_X A_{\overline{k}}^l \overline{\psi_{\overline{j}}^i} g^{j\overline{k}} g_{l\overline{i}} g_0^m dV_0, \\ R.H.S. &= \int_{X_0} < \eta_{\overline{k}} d\overline{z}^k \otimes e^m, (\partial_i \psi_{\overline{j}}^i + \psi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i \log g_0^{m+1}) d\overline{z}^j \otimes e^m > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} \eta_{\overline{k}} \overline{(\partial_i \psi_{\overline{j}}^i + \psi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i \log g_0^{m+1})} g^{j\overline{k}} g_0^m dV_0. \end{split}$$

So,

$$\begin{split} \int_{X_0} A^l_{\overline{k}} \overline{\psi^i_j} g^{j\overline{k}} g_{l\overline{i}} g^m_0 dV_0 &= \int_{X_0} \eta_{\overline{k}} (\partial_{\overline{i}} \overline{\psi^i_j} + \overline{\psi^i_j} \partial_{\overline{i}} \log g^{m+1}_0) g^{j\overline{k}} g^m_0 dV_0 \\ &= -\int_{X_0} \partial_{\overline{i}} \big(\eta_{\overline{k}} g^{j\overline{k}} g^{m+1}_0 \big) g^{-1} \overline{\psi^i_j} dV_0 + \int_{X_0} (\partial_{\overline{i}} \log g^{m+1}_0) g^{j\overline{k}} g^m_0 \eta_{\overline{k}} \overline{\psi^i_j} dV_0. \end{split}$$

$$(2.4.11)$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\overline{k}}^{l} g^{j\overline{k}} g_{l\overline{i}} \overline{g}_{0}^{m} &= \eta_{\overline{k}} (\partial_{\overline{i}} \log g_{0}^{m+1}) g^{j\overline{k}} g_{0}^{m} - \partial_{\overline{i}} (\eta_{\overline{k}} g^{j\overline{k}} g_{0}^{m+1}) g_{0}^{-1} \\ &= \eta_{\overline{k}} g^{j\overline{k}} g_{0}^{m} \partial_{\overline{i}} \log g_{0}^{m+1} - \partial_{\overline{i}} (\eta_{\overline{k}} g^{j\overline{k}}) g_{0}^{m} - \eta_{\overline{k}} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{i}} g_{0}^{m+1} g_{0}^{-m-1} g_{0}^{m} \quad (2.4.12) \\ &= -\partial_{\overline{i}} (\eta_{\overline{k}} g^{j\overline{k}}) g_{0}^{m}. \end{aligned}$$

By $\overline{\partial}\eta = 0$, we have $\partial_{\overline{p}}\eta_{\overline{i}} = \partial_{\overline{i}}\eta_{\overline{p}}$. So,

$$\begin{split} A^l_{\overline{k}}g^{j\overline{k}}g_{l\overline{i}} &= -\partial_{\overline{i}}(\eta_{\overline{k}}g^{j\overline{k}})\\ A^l_{\overline{p}}g_{l\overline{i}} &= -\partial_{\overline{i}}\eta_{\overline{p}} - \eta_{\overline{k}}g_{j\overline{p}}\partial_{\overline{i}}g^{j\overline{k}}\\ A^q_{\overline{p}} &= -g^{q\overline{i}}\partial_{\overline{i}}\eta_{\overline{p}} - g^{q\overline{i}}\eta_{\overline{k}}g_{j\overline{p}}\partial_{\overline{i}}g^{j\overline{k}}\\ &= -g^{q\overline{i}}\partial_{\overline{p}}\eta_{\overline{i}} + \eta_{\overline{k}}g^{q\overline{i}}\partial_{\overline{p}}g_{j\overline{i}}g^{j\overline{k}}\\ &= -g^{q\overline{i}}\partial_{\overline{p}}\eta_{\overline{i}} - \eta_{\overline{i}}\partial_{\overline{p}}g^{q\overline{i}} = -\partial_{\overline{p}}(\eta_{\overline{i}}g^{q\overline{i}}), \end{split}$$

and we get

$$\operatorname{div}^* \eta = -\partial_{\overline{p}}(\eta_{\overline{i}} g^{q\overline{i}}) d\overline{z}^p \otimes \partial_q \otimes e^m, \qquad (2.4.13)$$

and,

$$\overline{\partial}(\operatorname{div}^*\eta) = [-\partial_{\overline{j}}\partial_{\overline{k}}(\eta_{\overline{i}}g^{q\overline{i}})]d\overline{z}^j \wedge d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_q \otimes e^m = [\partial_{\overline{j}}\partial_{\overline{k}}(\eta_{\overline{i}}g^{q\overline{i}})]d\overline{z}^j \wedge d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_q \otimes e^m.$$
(2.4.14)

The symmetry leads to $\overline{\partial}(\operatorname{div}^*\eta) = 0.$

Lemma 2.4.4. For $\eta \in A^{0,1}(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m})$ and $\overline{\partial}\eta = 0$, we have

$$\Box \operatorname{div}^* \eta - \operatorname{div}^* \Box \eta = -(m+1) \operatorname{div}^* \eta.$$
(2.4.15)

Proof. Let $\eta = f_{\overline{i}} d\overline{z}^i \otimes e^m$. Then

$$\overline{\partial}^* \eta = -[g^{j\overline{i}}\partial_j f_{\overline{i}} + g^{j\overline{i}}f_{\overline{i}}\partial_j \log g_0^m]e^m,$$

and

$$\overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^*\eta = -\partial_{\overline{k}}[g^{j\overline{i}}\partial_j f_{\overline{i}} + g^{j\overline{i}}f_{\overline{i}}\partial_j \log g_0^m]d\overline{z}^k \otimes e^m.$$

Because $\overline{\partial}\eta = 0$,

$$\Box \eta = \overline{\partial \overline{\partial}}^* \eta = -\partial_{\overline{k}} [g^{j\overline{i}} \partial_j f_{\overline{i}} + g^{j\overline{i}} f_{\overline{i}} \partial_j \log g_0^m] d\overline{z}^k \otimes e^m.$$

And

$$\operatorname{div}^*(\Box \eta) = \partial_{\overline{k}} \left[\partial_{\overline{p}} (g^{j\overline{i}} \partial_j f_{\overline{i}} + g^{j\overline{i}} f_{\overline{i}} \partial_j \log g_0^m) g^{j\overline{p}} \right] d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m$$
(2.4.16)

On the other hand,

$$\operatorname{div}^* \eta = -\partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{i}}g^{q\overline{i}})d\overline{z}^p \otimes \partial_q \otimes e^m := \varphi_{\overline{p}}^q d\overline{z}^p \otimes \partial_q \otimes e^m.$$
(2.4.17)

And $\overline{\partial}(\mathrm{div}^*\eta) = 0.$

$$\overline{\partial}^*(\operatorname{div}^*\eta) = \left[-\partial_l \varphi_{\overline{p}}^i g^{l\overline{p}} + \varphi_{\overline{p}}^q \partial_p g^{i\overline{p}} - \varphi_{\overline{p}}^i g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_l \log g_0^m\right] \partial_i \otimes e^m, \qquad (2.4.18)$$

$$\Box(\operatorname{div}^*\eta) = \partial_{\overline{k}} \left[\partial_l \partial_{\overline{p}} (f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} - \partial_{\overline{p}} (f_{\overline{j}} g^{q\overline{j}}) \partial_q g^{i\overline{p}} + \partial_{\overline{p}} (f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_l \log g_0^m \right] d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m.$$

$$(2.4.19)$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} & \Box(\operatorname{div}^*\eta) - \operatorname{div}^*(\Box\eta) \\ = & \left\{ \partial_{\overline{k}} \left[\partial_l \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} - \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{q\overline{j}}) \partial_q g^{i\overline{p}} + \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_l \log g_0^m \right] \\ & - \partial_{\overline{k}} \left[(g^{j\overline{l}} \partial_j f_{\overline{l}} + f_{\overline{l}} g^{j\overline{l}} \partial_j \log g_0^m)_{\overline{p}} g^{i\overline{p}} \right] \right\} d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ = & \partial_{\overline{k}} \left[\partial_l \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} - \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{q\overline{j}}) \partial_q g^{i\overline{p}} + \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{l\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_l \log g_0^m \\ & - \partial_{\overline{p}}(g^{l\overline{j}} \partial_l f_{\overline{j}}) g^{i\overline{p}} - \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{l\overline{j}}) g^{i\overline{p}} \partial_l \log g_0^m - (f_{\overline{j}} g^{l\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} \partial_l \partial_{\overline{p}} \log g_0^m \right] d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ = & \partial_{\overline{k}} \left[\partial_l \partial_{\overline{p}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) g^{l\overline{p}} - \partial_{\overline{p}}(g^{l\overline{j}} \partial_l f_{\overline{j}}) g^{i\overline{p}} + m(f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) \right] d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ = & (m+1) \partial_{\overline{k}}(f_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) d\overline{z}^k \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ = & - (m+1) \operatorname{div}^* \eta. \end{split}$$

Lemma 2.4.5. For $\eta = \eta_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0 \otimes K_{X_0}^{-m})$, if $\overline{\partial}\eta = 0$, then $\operatorname{div}^* \operatorname{div}(\eta) = \Box \eta$.

Proof.

$$\begin{split} \Box \eta &= \overline{\partial \partial}^* \eta \\ &= \partial_{\overline{l}} [-g^{k\overline{j}} \partial_k \eta^i_{\overline{j}} + \eta^k_{\overline{j}} \partial_k g^{i\overline{j}} - \eta^i_{\overline{j}} g^{k\overline{j}} \partial_k \log g^m_0] d\overline{z}^l \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ &= [-g^{k\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k \eta_{\overline{j}} + \eta^k_{\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k g^{i\overline{j}} - \eta^i_{\overline{j}} g^{k\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k \log g^m_0] d\overline{z}^l \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ &= [-[\partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k (\eta^i_{\overline{j}} g^{k\overline{j}}) - \eta^i_{\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k (g^{k\overline{j}})] + \eta^k_{\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k (g^{i\overline{j}}) + m\eta^i_{\overline{l}}] d\overline{z}^l \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \quad (2.4.21) \\ &= [-[\partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k (\eta^k_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{j}}) - \eta^i_{\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k (g^{k\overline{j}})] + \eta^k_{\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_k (g^{i\overline{j}}) + m\eta^i_{\overline{l}}] d\overline{z}^l \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ &= [-\partial_i \partial_k \eta^k_{\overline{i}} + (m+1)\eta^i_{\overline{l}}] d\overline{z}^l \otimes \partial_i \otimes e^m \\ &= \operatorname{div}^* \operatorname{div} \eta. \end{split}$$

Based on above lemmas, we obtain

Proposition 11. Up to the second order, the expansion of the L^2 metric about t at 0 is given by

$$h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(t) = h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(0) + |t|^2 \int_{X_0} (m+1)((\Delta+1)^{-1}|\varphi_1|^2 < S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m}) dV_0$$

- $|t|^2 \int_{X_0} (m+1) < (\Box+m+1)^{-1}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > +O(|t|^3).$
(2.4.22)

Proof. The 0th order term is given by $h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(0) = \int_{X_0} \langle S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} \rangle_{g_0^m} dV_0$.

For the 1^{st} order term:

We first note that f(0) = 0, and by the volume form expansion,

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial t}(0) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{t}}(0) = 0.$$

Also, by the deformation equation,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} \det \left(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}\right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} \det \left(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}\right) = 0.$$

Let $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}S^{\alpha}(t)|_{t=0} = S_1^{\alpha}$ for $\alpha = 1, \dots, N_m$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0}h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(t) &= \int_{X_0} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < S_1^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m} dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < \overline{\partial}^* G(\varphi_1 \lrcorner S_0^{\alpha}), S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m} dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < G(\varphi_1 \lrcorner S_0^{\alpha}), \overline{\partial} S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m} dV_0 = 0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.4.23)$$

Similarly, $\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} h_{\alpha \overline{\beta}}(t) = 0.$ So all first order terms vanish. For the 2nd order terms, we have

by the volume form expansion, $\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t^2}(0) = 0$ and $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}\Big|_{t=0} det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) = 0$, it follows

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}\Big|_{t=0} \Big[e^{(m+1)f} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0\Big] \\ = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} \Big[(m+1)e^{(m+1)f}\frac{\partial f}{\partial t} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0 \\ &+ e^{(m+1)f}\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0 \\ &+ e^{(m+1)f} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0\Big] \end{aligned}$$
(2.4.24)
$$= \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}\Big|_{t=0} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0 \\ &= < S_2^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m} dV_0 \\ &= < \overline{\partial}^* G(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_1^{\alpha} + \varphi_2 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^{\alpha}), S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m} dV_0 = 0 \end{aligned}$$

where $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}|_{t=0}S^{\alpha}(t) = S_2^{\alpha}$ for any $\alpha = 1, \dots, N_m$. Similarly,

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \overline{t}^2}\Big|_{t=0} \left[e^{(m+1)f} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) dV_0\right] = 0.$$

For the mixed derivative term, recall equation (2.2.30) and (2.2.31), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} \Big[e^{(m+1)f} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0\Big] \\ = &\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} \Big[(m+1)e^{(m+1)f}\frac{\partial f}{\partial t} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0 \\ &+ e^{(m+1)f}\frac{\partial}{\partial t} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0 \\ &+ e^{(m+1)f} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0\Big] \\ = &(m+1)\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} < S^{\alpha}_0, S^{\beta}_0 >_{g_0^m} dV_0 + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} < S^{\alpha}(t), S^{\beta}(t) >_{g_0^m} dV_0 \\ &+ < S^{\alpha}_0, S^{\beta}_0 >_{g_0^m} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})dV_0 \\ = &(m+1)(\Delta+1)^{-1}(|\varphi_1|^2) < S^{\alpha}_0, S^{\beta}_0 >_{g_0^m} dV_0 + < S^{\alpha}_1, S^{\beta}_1 >_{g_0^m} dV_0 - < S^{\alpha}_0, S^{\beta}_0 >_{g_0^m} |\varphi_1|^2 dV_0 \\ = &(m-\Delta)((\Delta+1)^{-1}(|\varphi_1|^2)) < S^{\alpha}_0, S^{\beta}_0 >_{g_0^m} dV_0 + < S^{\alpha}_1, S^{\beta}_1 >_{g_0^m} dV_0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.4.25)$$

Hence, up to second order, the L^2 -metric about t can be written as

$$h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(t) = \int_{X_t} \langle \sigma_t(S^{\alpha}(t)), \sigma_t(S^{\beta}(t)) \rangle_{g_t^m} dV_t$$

= $h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(0) + |t|^2 \int_{X_0} (\langle S_1^{\alpha}, S_1^{\beta} \rangle_{g_0^m} + (m - \Delta)((\Delta + 1)^{-1}|\varphi_1|^2) \langle S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} \rangle_{g_0^m}) dV_0 + O(|t|^3).$
(2.4.26)

Next, we will explore further the term $\int_{X_0} \langle S_1^{\alpha}, S_1^{\beta} \rangle_{g_0^m} dV_0$. By $H^1(X_0, K_{X_0}^{-m}) = 0$, we know $\Box G = Id$. Thus we have,

$$< S_{1}^{\alpha}, S_{1}^{\beta} >_{g_{0}^{m}} = <\overline{\partial}^{*}G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\alpha}), \overline{\partial}^{*}G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\beta}) >_{g_{0}^{m}}$$

$$= < G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\alpha}), \overline{\partial}\overline{\partial}^{*}G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\beta}) >_{g_{0}^{m}}$$

$$= < G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\alpha}), (\Box - \overline{\partial}^{*}\overline{\partial})G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\beta}) >_{g_{0}^{m}}$$

$$= < G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\alpha}), \Box G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\beta}) >_{g_{0}^{m}} - < G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\alpha}), \overline{\partial}^{*}\overline{\partial}G(\varphi_{1} \lrcorner \nabla S_{0}^{\beta}) >_{g_{0}^{m}} .$$

$$(2.4.27)$$

Moreover,

$$\overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} G(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^\beta) = \overline{\partial}^* G \overline{\partial} (\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^\beta)
= \overline{\partial}^* G(\overline{\partial} \varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^\beta + \varphi_1 \lrcorner \overline{\partial} (\nabla S_0^\beta))
= \overline{\partial}^* G(\varphi_1 \lrcorner (-\nabla (\overline{\partial} S_0^\beta)) + \varphi_1 \lrcorner 2\sqrt{-1} m S_0^\beta \otimes \omega_0) = 0.$$
(2.4.28)

We get $\langle S_1^{\alpha}, S_1^{\beta} \rangle_{g_0^m} = \langle G(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^{\alpha}), (\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^{\beta}) \rangle_{g_0^m}$.

Based on Lemma 2.4.2 to Lemma 2.4.5, choosing the divergence gauge, we notice that the operator $(\Box + m + 1)$ has no kernel, we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{X_0} < G(\varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \lrcorner \nabla S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < G \mathrm{div}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \mathrm{div}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta}) > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < \mathrm{div}^* G \mathrm{div}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} (\Box + m + 1) \mathrm{div}^* G \mathrm{div}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} \mathrm{div}^* \Box G \mathrm{div}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} \mathrm{div}^* \mathrm{div}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} \mathrm{div}^* \mathrm{div}(\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} \Box (\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha} - (m + 1) (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} (\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} < \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}, \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 - \int_{X_0} (m + 1) < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} (\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 \\ &= \int_{X_0} |\varphi_1|^2 < S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 - \int_{X_0} (m + 1) < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} (\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0. \end{split}$$

$$(2.4.29)$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(t) = &h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(0) + |t|^2 \int_{X_0} (m - \Delta)((\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2 < S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m}) dV_0 \\ &+ |t|^2 \int_{X_0} |\varphi_1|^2 < S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m} - (m + 1) < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} (\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 + O(|t|^3) \\ &= &h_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}(0) + |t|^2 \int_{X_0} (m + 1)((\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2 < S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\beta} >_{g_0^m}) dV_0 \\ &- |t|^2 \int_{X_0} (m + 1) < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} (\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\beta} > dV_0 + O(|t|^3). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.4.30)$$

Now, we are ready to show

Theorem 2.4.1. Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B \subset \mathbb{C}$ be an analytic family of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds, such that on the central fiber $\pi^{-1}(0) = (X_0, \omega_0)$, we have $H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$. Let $K^m_{\mathscr{X}/B} \to B$ be the relative anticanonical line bundle. Then the Ricci curvature of the L^2 metric on the direct image sheaf $R^0\pi_*(K^m_{\mathscr{X}/B})$ has the following asymptotic behavior

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{\pi^n}{m^n} R^m_{1\bar{1}} = -\int_{X_0} |\varphi_1|^2 dV_0,$$

where $\int_{X_0} |\varphi_1|^2 dV_0$ is the Weil-Peterson metric on the Moduli space.

Proof. Let $\tau_m = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N_m} \langle S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\alpha} \rangle_{g_0^m}$ be the Bergman Kernel function on the central fiber (X_0, ω_0) . By Proposition 12,

$$R_{1\overline{1}}^{m} = -\sum_{\alpha=1}^{N_{m}} \frac{\partial^{2} h_{\alpha \overline{\alpha}}(t)}{\partial t \partial \overline{t}}|_{t=0}$$

= $-\int_{X_{0}} \tau_{m}(m+1)(\Delta+1)^{-1}|\varphi_{1}|^{2}dV_{0}$ (2.4.31)
 $+\int_{X_{0}} (m+1)\sum_{\alpha=1}^{N_{m}} < (\Box+m+1)^{-1}(\varphi_{1}\otimes S_{0}^{\alpha}), \varphi_{1}\otimes S_{0}^{\beta} > dV_{0}.$

Let $(\Box + m + 1)f = \lambda f$. Then we see

$$\lambda \int_{X_0} f^2 = \int_{X_0} f(\Box + m + 1)f = \int_{X_0} f\Box f + (m + 1)f^2 \ge (m + 1) \int_{X_0} f^2 \quad (2.4.32)$$

so, the eigenvalue of the operator $\Box + m + 1$ is at least m + 1.

By Tain-Yau-Zelditch's Bergman kernel expansion formula [6] [17] [20],

$$\tau_m = \frac{m^n}{\pi^n} - \frac{nm^{n-1}}{2\pi^n} + O(m^{n-2}).$$

Then,

$$0 \leq \int_{X_0} < (\Box + m + 1)^{-1} (\varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}), \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha} > dV_0$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{m+1} \int_{X_0} < \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha}, \varphi_1 \otimes S_0^{\alpha} > dV_0$$

$$= \frac{1}{m+1} \int_{X_0} |\varphi_1|^2 < S_0^{\alpha}, S_0^{\alpha} > dV_0.$$
 (2.4.33)

So,

$$R_{1\overline{1}}^{m} \le (m+1) \Big[\frac{1}{m+1} \int_{X_0} \tau_m |\varphi_1|^2 - \int_{X_0} \tau_m (\Delta+1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2 dV_0 \Big].$$
(2.4.34)

On the other hand,

$$R_{1\overline{1}}^{m} \ge -(m+1) \int_{X_{0}} \tau_{m} (\Delta+1)^{-1} |\varphi_{1}|^{2} dV_{0}.$$
(2.4.35)

As $m \to \infty$, we get,

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{\pi^n}{m^n} R_{1\bar{1}}^m = -\int_{X_0} (\Delta + 1)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2 dV_0 = -\int_{X_0} |\varphi|^2 dV_0.$$
(2.4.36)

2.5 Deformation of holomorphic vector fields

On a general Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, there may exist holomorphic vector fields which are nontrivial. In this section, we will investigate the deformation theory of such vector fields. More specifically, we establish the deformation equation and show that the solution to the deformation equation exists under the assumption that the dimension of the space of holomorphic vector fields is a constant. Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B \subset \mathbb{C}$ be an analytic family of Fano Kähler-Einstein manifolds, (X_0, ω_0) is the central fiber. Let $V_0 \in H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0), V \in A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ such that $\mathbb{H}(V) = V_0$. Let φ be the Beltrami differential. We define $\sigma : A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0) \to A^0(X_t, T^{1,0}(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t))$ as follows. If (z_1, \ldots, z_n) are local holomorphic coordinates on $X_0, V = V^i(z) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$, then $\sigma(V) = V^i(z)e_i$, where $e_i = (I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ik}(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} - \overline{\varphi_k^j}\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z_j}})$. We know σ is an isormorphism. Then,

Proposition 12. $\sigma(V) \in H^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t)$ if and only if $\overline{\partial}V = [\varphi, V]$.

Proof. Let

$$V = V^i \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} \in A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0).$$

For $\{e_1, \cdots, e_n\}$ the deformed holomorphic frame, where

$$e_i = (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ik} (\frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} - \overline{\varphi_k^j} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z_j}}),$$

the deformed holomorphic coordinate vector field on X_t is given by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}} = \left(\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{i}}\right)^{-1} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ik} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z_{k}} - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z_{j}}}\right) \\
= b^{i\alpha} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ik} T_{k},$$
(2.5.1)

where $(b^{i\alpha})_{n \times n} = (a_{i\alpha})_{n \times n}^{-1}$ and $a_{i\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_i}$.

Now, $\sigma(V) = V(t) = V^i e_i = V^i a_{i\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}}$, let $\overline{\partial}_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}} dw^{\alpha}$. Then $V(t) \in H^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t)$, if and only if $\overline{\partial}_t V(t) = 0$, if and only if $T_{\overline{i}}(V(t)) = (\partial_{\overline{i}} - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j)(V^k a_{k\alpha}) = 0$. By

$$\partial_{\overline{i}}(a_{k\alpha}) = \partial_{\overline{i}}(\partial_k w_\alpha) = \partial_k(\partial_{\overline{i}} w_\alpha) = \partial_k(\varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \frac{\partial w_\alpha}{\partial z_j}) = a_{j\alpha} \partial_k \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j + \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_k a_{j\alpha}, \qquad (2.5.2)$$

we get

$$(\partial_{\overline{i}} - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j)(a_{k\alpha}) = a_{j\alpha} \partial_k \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j,$$

and

$$(\partial_{\overline{i}} - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j)(V^k a_{k\alpha}) = (\partial_{\overline{i}} V^k - \varphi_{\overline{i}}^j \partial_j V^k + V^j \partial_j \varphi_{\overline{i}}^k) a_{k\alpha}$$

Therefore, $\overline{\partial}_t V(t) = 0$, if and only if $\overline{\partial} V = \varphi \lrcorner \partial V - V \lrcorner \partial \varphi$, if and only if $\overline{\partial} V = [\varphi, V]$.

Lemma 2.5.1. If $W \in A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)/H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, we have $(\Box - 1) \operatorname{div} GW = \operatorname{div} W$ where G is the Green operator, and \Box is the Hodge Laplacian.

Proof. For a vector $U \in A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ we have

$$\Box \operatorname{div} U - \operatorname{div} \Box U = \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} \operatorname{div} U - div \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} U$$

$$= -\nabla_k \nabla_{\overline{k}} \nabla_i U^i + \nabla_i \nabla_k \nabla_{\overline{k}} U^i$$

$$= \nabla_k (\nabla_i \nabla_{\overline{k}} U^i - \nabla_{\overline{k}} \nabla_i U^i)$$

$$= \nabla_k (R_{p\overline{k}} U^p) = g_{p\overline{k}} \nabla_k U^p = \operatorname{div} U.$$

(2.5.3)

Take $W \in A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)/H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0),$

$$\Box(\operatorname{div} GW - G\operatorname{div} W) = \Box \operatorname{div} GW - \operatorname{div} W$$
$$= \operatorname{div} \Box GW + \operatorname{div} GW - \operatorname{div} W \qquad (2.5.4)$$
$$= \operatorname{div} GW$$

i.e. $(\Box - 1) \operatorname{div} GW = \operatorname{div} W$.

Lemma 2.5.2. For $V = V_0 + \sum_{i \ge 1} t^i V_i \in A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ satisfying $\begin{cases} \overline{\partial} V = [\varphi, V] \\ \mathbb{H}[\varphi, V] = 0 \\ V_0 \in H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0) \end{cases}$

and V_0 is a holomorphic vector field with real potential function. Then $\operatorname{div} V_i = 0$ for all $i \geq 1$.

Remark 9. On a compact Fano Kähler-Einstein manifold, there always exists a holomorphic vector field with a real potential. The reason is: taking any $V \in$ $H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$, the Fano condition tells us $V = \nabla^{1,0}f$ for some complex valued smooth function f and $divV = -\Box f$. Let $f = u + \sqrt{-1}v$, then divV = $-\Box u - \sqrt{-1}\Box v$. By Matsushima's theorem, $\Box divV = divV$, so $\Box(\Box u) + \sqrt{-1}(\Box v) =$ $\Box u + \sqrt{-1}\Box(\Box v)$. Since \Box is a real operator on Kähler manifold, $\Box(\Box u) = \Box u$ and $\Box(\Box v) = \Box v$, again, by Matsushima's theorem, $\nabla^{1,0}(\Box u)$ is such a holomorphic vector field with real potential $\Box u$. *Proof.* (of the lemma 2.5.2)

For
$$\varphi = \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} \in A^{0,1}(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0), V = V^k \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k} \in A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$$
, we have

$$[\varphi, V] = (\varphi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i V^k - V^i \partial_i \varphi_{\overline{j}}^k) d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$$

$$\overline{\partial}^* [\varphi, V] = \nabla (\varphi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i V^k - V^i \partial_i \varphi_{\overline{j}}^k) d\overline{z}^j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}$$

so $\overline{\partial}^*[\varphi, V] = -\nabla_j (\varphi_{\overline{j}}^i \partial_i V^k - V^i \partial_i \varphi_{\overline{j}}^k) \frac{\partial}{\partial z_k}.$ By Hodge decomposition,

$$V = V_0 + \overline{\partial}^* \overline{\partial} GV = V_0 + \overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi, V],$$

then $V_i = \sum_{j=1}^{i} \overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi_j, V_{i-j}]$, for $i \ge 1$. By Lemma 2.5.1, $(\Box - 1) \operatorname{div} G\overline{\partial}^*[\varphi, V] = \operatorname{div} \overline{\partial}^*[\varphi, V]$. Hence,

$$(\Box - 1)\operatorname{div} V_{1} = (\Box - 1)\operatorname{div}\overline{\partial}^{*}G[\varphi_{1}, V_{0}] = \operatorname{div}\overline{\partial}^{*}[\varphi_{1}, V_{0}]$$
$$= -\nabla_{k}\nabla_{j}(\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{i}V_{0}^{k} - V_{0}^{i}\partial_{i}\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{k})$$
$$= -\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{i}\partial_{j}\partial_{i}(\operatorname{div} V_{0}) = -tr(\varphi_{1} \sqcup \overline{\nabla}^{2}\operatorname{div} V_{0}) = 0$$
$$(2.5.5)$$

The last equality holds because $divV_0$ is real and $V_0 \in H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$. Now, $V_1 \notin H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0)$ implies the operator $(\Box - 1)$ is invertible, so, $\operatorname{div} V_1 = 0$.

For
$$i \ge 2$$
, $V_i = \sum_{j=1}^{i} \overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi_j, V_{i-j}],$
 $(\Box - 1) \operatorname{div} V_i = \sum_{j=1}^{i} (\Box - 1) \operatorname{div} \overline{\partial}^* G[\varphi_j, V_{i-j}]$
 $= \sum_{j=1}^{i} \operatorname{div} \overline{\partial}^* [\varphi_j, V_{i-j}]$
 $= - tr(\varphi_i \lrcorner \overline{\nabla}^2 \operatorname{div} V_0) - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} tr(\varphi_j \lrcorner \overline{\nabla}^2 \operatorname{div} V_{i-j}) = 0$

$$(2.5.6)$$

Consequently, $\operatorname{div} V_i = 0$ for all $i \ge 1$.

Proposition 13. Suppose $h^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0) = h^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t) = k = constant$ for $|t| < \epsilon$. Then there exists a unique solution to

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}V = [\varphi, V] \\ \operatorname{div}(V - \mathbb{H}(V)) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Proof. For each sufficiently small t, $h^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t) = k$, it's known that $H^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t)$ is a vector bundle. Take a holomorphic basis $\{E^1(t), \ldots, E^k(t)\}$, such that $H^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t) = span\{E^1(t), \cdots E^k(t)\}$. In particular, $H^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0) = span\{E^1(0), \ldots E^k(0)\}$. Since

$$\sigma(t) \colon A^0(X_0, T^{1,0}X_0) \to A^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t)$$
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial z_i} \mapsto e_i = (I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij} (\frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} - \overline{\varphi_j^k} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z_k}})$$

is a linear isomorphism, $\sigma^{-1}(E^{i}(t)) = \tilde{E}^{i}(t) \in A^{0}(X_{0}, T^{1,0}X_{0})$ and $\tilde{E}^{i}(t)$ satisfies $\overline{\partial}\tilde{E}^{i}(t) = [\varphi, \tilde{E}^{i}(t)]$. For each $\tilde{E}^{i}(t)$, we let $\tilde{E}^{i}(t) = \mathbb{H}(\tilde{E}^{i}(t)) + \sum_{\alpha \geq 1} t^{\alpha}\tilde{E}^{i}_{\alpha}(t)$ where $\mathbb{H}(\tilde{E}^{i}(t)) \in H^{0}(X_{0}, T^{1,0}X_{0})$. By $H^{0}(X_{0}, T^{1,0}X_{0}) = span\{E^{1}(0), \cdots, E^{k}(0)\} = span\{\mathbb{H}(\tilde{E}^{1}(t), \cdots, \tilde{E}^{k}(t))\}$, there exists a nondegenerate linear map $A_{0}(t) : H^{0}(X_{0}, T^{1,0}X_{0}) \to H^{0}(X_{0}, T^{1,0}X_{0})$ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} E^{1}(0) \\ \vdots \\ E^{k}(0) \end{bmatrix} = A_{0}(t) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{H}(\tilde{E}^{1}(t)) \\ \vdots \\ \mathbb{H}(\tilde{E}^{k}(t)) \end{bmatrix}.$$

Now, assume $\{e^1(t), \cdots, e^k(t)\}$ is the solution to

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial} e^i(t) = [\varphi, e^i(t)] \\ \mathbb{H}[e^i(t)] = E^i(0) \\ div(e^i(t) - E^i(0)) = 0 \end{cases}$$

i.e. $\sigma(e^i(t)) \in H^0(X_t, T^{1,0}X_t)$. Then there is $A(t, \bar{t})$ such that,

$$\begin{bmatrix} e^{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ e^{k}(t) \end{bmatrix} = A(t,\bar{t}) \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{E}^{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{E}^{k}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

However, by the implicit function theorem, for $|t| < \epsilon$, such a linear transformation $A(t, \bar{t})$ always exists.

Chapter 3

Pluri-subharmonicity of Harmonic Energy

It is well known that the Teichmüller spaces of hyperbolic Riemann surfaces are contractible. However, little is known about the Teichmüller spaces of higher dimensional Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type. In this chapter, we will take the first step in studying the (weak) pseudo-convexity of such Teichmüller spaces. Our approach to the problem is in the framework of deformation theory. In particular, based on the deformation theory of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type estabilished by X. Sun [15], we compute the first and second variation of harmonic energy. It turns out the first variation of the energy function admits a simple formula depending on the harmonic projection of the Beltrami differential. Based on the second variation, we conclude that with the assumption that the target manifold has Hermitian nonpositive curvature, the energy function is pluri-subharmonic.

In section 1, we review the deformation theory of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type, the discussion of which follows from X. Sun's paper [15]. In section 2, we compute the first variation of the energy function and express it in terms of the harmonic Beltrami differentials and Hopf differentials. In section 3, we investigate the second variation and obtain the pluri-subharmonicity of the energy functional.

3.1 Deformation of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type

Let M_0 be a compact Kähler manifold with $c_1(M_0) < 0$. By Yau's famous work [19], M_0 admits a unique Kähler-Einstein metric ω_0 , such that $Ric(\omega_0) = -\omega_0$. Suppose $H^2(M_0, T^{1,0}M_0) = 0$, i.e. the deformations of complex structures on M_0 have no obstructions. Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B = \{t = (t_1 \cdots, t_k) \in \mathbb{C}^k | |t| < \epsilon\}$ be an analytic family of compact Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general types with the central fiber (M_0, ω_0) , and for each $t \in B$, $M_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$ is also a Kähler-Einstein manifold such that $Ric(\omega_t) = -\omega_t$. The complex structure on M_t is represented by $\varphi(t) \in A^{0,1}(M_0, T^{1,0}M_0)$, where $\varphi(t)$ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi(t) = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi(t),\varphi(t)] \\ \overline{\partial}^*\varphi(t) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.1.1)

where $\overline{\partial}$ is on the central fiber (M_0, ω_0) , and $\overline{\partial}^*$ depends on the Kähler-Einstein metric ω_0 . Let the div operator be defined as in Chapter 2. We first recall the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1.1. (X. Sun) On a compact Kähler-Einstein manifold of general type (M_0, ω_0) , if a Beltrami differential $\varphi \in A^{0,1}(M_0, T^{1,0}M_0)$ satisfies $\overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi, \varphi]$, then

 $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = 0$ if and only if $\operatorname{div} \varphi = 0$.

Furthermore, $\varphi_{\perp}\omega_0 = 0$ when either one of these conditions is imposed.

Therefore, the deformation equation of complex structures on Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type is solvable under either the Kuranisi gauge $\overline{\partial}^* \varphi = 0$ or the divergence gauge $div\varphi = 0$. In the following discussion, instead of using the Kuranishi gauge, we will take the divergence gauge in the computation. To simplify the notation, we let $B \subset \mathbb{C}$.

For the analytic family $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B$ of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type, the complex structure on each fiber $M_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$ is determined by $\varphi(t) = \varphi_1 + \sum_{i>2} t^i \varphi_i$, where $\varphi_1 \in H^{0,1}(M_0, T^{1,0}M_0)$, and for $i \ge 2$, φ_i satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi_i = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} [\varphi_j, \varphi_{i-j}].\\ \operatorname{div}\varphi_i = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.1.2)

Let (z_1, \ldots, z_n) be local holomorphic coordinates on (M_0, ω_0) , locally

$$\Omega^{1,0}(M_0) = span\{dz^1, \cdots, dz^n\}$$

Let $\{e^1, \dots, e^n\}$ be local holomorphic coframes on (M_t, ω_t) obtained by the deformation of the complex structure, i.e. $e^i = dz^i + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j$. Then,

$$\Omega^{1,0}(M_t) = span\{e^1, \dots, e^n\}.$$

Let (w_1, \dots, w_n) be local holomorphic coordinates on (M_t, ω_t) , let $a_{j\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_\alpha}{\partial z_j}$, $(b^{j\alpha})_{n \times n} = (a_{j\alpha})_{n \times n}^{-1}$, and $T_i = (\partial_i - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^k} \partial_{\overline{k}})$. Then

$$\begin{cases} dw^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j}}e^{j} = a_{j\alpha}(dz^{j} + \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j}d\overline{z}^{k}) \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial w_{\alpha}} = b^{j\alpha}(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}T_{i} = b^{j\alpha}(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}(\partial_{i} - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{k}}\partial_{\overline{k}}). \end{cases}$$
(3.1.3)

Now, let $A = (a_{\alpha i})_{n \times n} = (\frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_i})_{n \times n}$, $|A| = \det A$, $c_n = (-1)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} (\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2})^n$, and let g_0 be the Kähler metric on the central fiber M_0 , then

$$dV_0 = c_n \det g_0 \, dz^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dz^n \wedge d\overline{z}^1 \wedge \dots \wedge d\overline{z}^n. \tag{3.1.4}$$

Let

$$d\widetilde{V}_t = c_n \det g_0 \ e^1 \wedge \dots \wedge e^n \wedge \overline{e}^1 \wedge \dots \wedge \overline{e}^n$$

= det $(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) \ dV_0.$ (3.1.5)

There is a unique function $f = f(z, \overline{z}, t, \overline{t}) \in C^{\infty}(M_0 \times B)$ with $f(z, \overline{z}, 0, 0) = 0$ such that the volume form on the deformed manifold M_t is given by

$$dV_t = e^f d\tilde{V}_t = e^f \det(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi}) \, dV_0$$

= $c_n e^f \det g_0 \, |A|^{-2} dw^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dw^n \wedge d\overline{w}^1 \dots \wedge d\overline{w}^n$ (3.1.6)
= $c_n \det g_t \, dw^1 \wedge \dots \wedge dw^n \wedge d\overline{w}^1 \dots \wedge d\overline{w}^n$.

Hence,

$$\det g_t = e^f \det g_0 |A|^{-2}.$$
 (3.1.7)

Define the matrix $B = (B_{j\overline{p}})_{n \times n}$ to be

$$B_{j\overline{p}} = g_{j\overline{p}} - (\partial_j \varphi_{\overline{p}}^k) (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ik} T_i(f) + T_{\overline{p}} [(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{ij} T_i(f)].$$
(3.1.8)

Then the deformed Monge - Ampère equation

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial w_\alpha \partial \overline{w}_\beta} \log dV_t\right)^n = dV_t \tag{3.1.9}$$

turns out to be

$$\det B_{j\overline{p}} = e^f \det g_0 \det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}), \qquad (3.1.10)$$

then

$$\log \det B = f + \log \det g_0 + \log \det (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}). \tag{3.1.11}$$

On the Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type, the operator $\Delta - 1$ is automatically invertible for the Beltrami Laplacian Δ . From equation 3.1.8 and 3.1.11, We can derive the Taylor expansion of f; that is

$$f = |t|^2 (1 - \Delta)^{-1} (|\varphi_1|^2) + O(|t|^3).$$
(3.1.12)

Also, by the deformation equation of the complex structures,

$$\det(I - \varphi \overline{\varphi}) = 1 - |t|^2 |\varphi_1|^2 + O(|t|^3).$$
(3.1.13)

We conclude the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1.2. (X. Sun) Let $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B = \{t \in \mathbb{C} : |t| < \varepsilon\}$ be an analytic family of Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type with central fiber $\pi^{-1}(0) = (M_0, \omega_0)$. Then the volume form on the nearby fiber $M_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$ is given by

$$dV_t = \left[1 + |t|^2 \Delta((1 - \Delta)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2) + O(|t|^3)\right] dV_0,$$

and the Kähler form is

$$\omega_t = \omega_0 + |t|^2 (\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \overline{\partial} (1 - \Delta)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2) + O(|t|^3),$$

where Δ is the Beltrami-Laplacian on M_0 , ∂ , $\overline{\partial}$ are operators on M_0 , and $\varphi_1 = \mathbb{H}(\varphi)$ is the harmonic projection of the Beltrami differential φ , satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}\varphi = \frac{1}{2}[\varphi,\varphi] \\ \operatorname{div}\varphi = 0 \\ \varphi(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.1.14)

3.2 First variation of harmonic energy

Let (N, h) be a Riemannian manifold of dimension $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} N = m$ with nonpositive sectional curvature. Let (M_0, ω_g) be a compact Kähler-Einstein manifold of general type with dimension $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} M_0 = n$ and let \mathcal{T} be its Teichmüller space. We assume that the deformation of the complex structures on M_0 is unobstructed. Let $k = h^{0,1} (M_0, T_{M_0}^{1,0}) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{T}$ and let M be the background smooth manifold of M_0 . Let A be a fixed homotopy class of maps from M to N.

We consider the functional $E: \mathcal{T} \to \mathbb{R}$. For each point $p \in \mathcal{T}$, we let (M_p, g_p) be the Kähler-Einstein manifold corresponding p. Let $u: M_p \to N$ be a harmonic map in the class A. We let E(p) be the energy of u.

Now let z_1, \dots, z_n be local holomorphic coordinates on M_0 and let $\omega_g = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} g_{i\bar{j}} dz_i \wedge d\bar{z}_j$. Let u_1, \dots, u_m be any local coordinates on N and let $h = h_{AB} du_A \otimes du_B$. Let $u_0: M_0 \to N$ be a harmonic map in the class A.

The energy of u_0 is

$$E(0) = E(u_0) = \int_{M_0} g^{i\bar{j}} h_{AB}(u_0) \partial_i u_0^A \partial_{\bar{j}} u_0^B \, dV_0$$

and the Euler-Lagrange of E(0) is the harmonic map equation

$$\Delta_0 u_0^A + \Gamma_{BC}^A \left(u_0 \right) \partial_i u_0^B \partial_{\overline{j}} u_0^C g^{i\overline{j}} = 0$$

for each A, here $\partial_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}$.

Remark 10. The Hopf differential $H(u_0) \in S^2 \Omega^{1,0} M_0$ is defined as

$$H(u_0) = h_{AB} \partial_i u_0^A \partial_k u_0^B dz_i \otimes dz_k$$

When M_0 is a Riemann surface we know that $H(u_0)$ is a holomorphic quadratic differential.

Now, assume $\pi : \mathscr{X} \to B = \{t \in \mathbb{C} : |t| < \epsilon\}$ is an analytic family of compact Kähler-Einstein manifolds of general type with the central fiber (M_0, ω_0) and for each $t \in B, M_t = \pi^{-1}(t)$ is also a Kähler-Einstein manifold such that $Ric(\omega_t) = -\omega_t$. The target manifold is still (N, h) as above. We define the energy \mathcal{E} on the total space \mathscr{X} , and $\mathcal{E}|_t = E_t$, where $E_t = E(t, \bar{t}) = E(u_t)$, and

$$E(u_t) = \int_{M_t} g_t^{i\overline{j}} h_{AB}(u_t) \frac{\partial u_t^A}{\partial w^i} \frac{\partial u_t^B}{\partial \overline{w}^j} \, dV_t.$$

By the deformation equation of the complex structures, let $\varphi_1 \in \mathbb{H}^{0,1}(M_0, T^{1,0}M_0)$. We consider the convergent power series $\varphi(t) = t\varphi_1 + \sum_{i\geq 2} t^i \varphi_i$ where $t \in B \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\partial}_0 \varphi(t) = \frac{1}{2} [\varphi(t), \varphi(t)] \\ \overline{\partial}_0^* \varphi(t) = 0 \\ \mathbb{H} (\varphi_i) = 0 \text{ for } i \ge 2. \end{cases}$$

Theorem 3.2.1. The first variation of \mathcal{E} in the direction φ_1 is given by

$$\left. \frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial t} \right|_{t=0} = \int_{M_0} \Lambda \left(\varphi_1 \lrcorner H(u_0) \right) dV_0,$$

where $\Lambda\left(\varphi_{1} \sqcup H(u_{0})\right) = g^{i\overline{j}}\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{k}H(u_{0})_{ik} = g^{i\overline{j}}h_{\alpha\beta}\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{k}\partial_{i}u_{0}^{\alpha}\partial_{k}u_{0}^{\beta}$.

Proof. On (M_0, ω_0) , locally,

$$\Omega^{1,0}(M_0) = span\{dz^1, \cdots, dz^n\}.$$

Let $\{e^1, \ldots, e^n\}$ be local holomorphic frames on (M_t, ω_{g_t}) , then

$$\Omega^{1,0}(M_t) = span\{e^1, \cdots, e^n\}, \text{ where } e^i = dz^i + \varphi_{\overline{j}}^i d\overline{z}^j.$$

Let $\{w_1, \dots, w_n\}$ be local holomorphic coordinates on M_t , let $a_{j\alpha} = \frac{\partial w^{\alpha}}{\partial z_j}$ and $(b^{j\alpha})_{n \times n} = (a_{j\alpha})_{n \times n}^{-1}$, $T_i = (\partial_i - \overline{\varphi_i^k} \partial_{\overline{k}})$, then

$$\begin{cases} dw^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial w_{\alpha}}{\partial z_{j}}e^{j} = a_{jk}(dz^{j} + \varphi_{\overline{k}}^{j}d\overline{z}^{k}) \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial w^{\alpha}} = b^{j\alpha}(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}T_{i} = b^{j\alpha}(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}(\partial_{i} - \overline{\varphi_{\overline{i}}^{k}}\partial_{\overline{k}}). \end{cases}$$
(3.2.1)

Since the domain is a Kähler-Einstein manifold, as in the previous section in this chapter, we let

$$B_{j\overline{p}} = g_{j\overline{p}} - \partial_j(\varphi_{\overline{p}}^k)(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^i kT_i(f) + T_{\overline{p}}[(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{ij}T_i(f)].$$

Then

$$g_{\alpha\overline{\beta}} = -R_{\alpha\overline{\beta}}$$

$$= \frac{\partial^2}{\partial w_\alpha \partial \overline{w_\beta}} \log \det g_t \qquad (3.2.2)$$

$$= \overline{b^{q\overline{\beta}}} b^{j\alpha} \overline{(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{pq}} B_{j\overline{p}}.$$

and

$$g^{\alpha\overline{\beta}}\frac{\partial u^A}{\partial w_{\alpha}}\frac{\partial u^B}{\partial \overline{w}_{\beta}} = B^{j\overline{k}}(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{jm}T_m u^A T_{\overline{k}}u^B.$$
(3.2.3)

For the B matrix, we have

$$B_{l\bar{k}}(0) = g_{l\bar{k}}$$
, and $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}B_{l\bar{k}} = 0$,

By the power series of $\varphi(t)$,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}(I-\varphi\overline{\varphi})_{ij}=0,$$

and since φ is holomorphic in t, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}T_{\overline{k}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}(\partial_{\overline{k}} - \varphi^{i}_{\overline{k}}\partial_{i}) = -\varphi^{i}_{1\overline{k}}\partial_{i}, \text{ and } \frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}T_{m} = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} \left(g^{\alpha\overline{\beta}} \frac{\partial u^{A}}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial u^{B}}{\partial \overline{w}_{\beta}}\right) = g^{j\overline{k}} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} \left(T_{j} u^{A} T_{\overline{k}} u^{B}\right) \\
= g^{j\overline{k}} \left[\partial_{j} \left(\frac{\partial u^{A}}{\partial t}(0)\right) \partial_{\overline{k}} u^{B}_{0} - \partial_{j} u^{A}_{0} \partial_{i} u^{B}_{0} \varphi^{i}_{1\overline{k}} + \partial_{j} u^{A}_{0} \partial_{\overline{k}} \left(\frac{\partial u^{B}}{\partial t}(0)\right)\right]. \tag{3.2.4}$$

Now, $E(u) = \int_{M_t} \frac{\partial u^A}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial u^B}{\partial \overline{w}_{\beta}} h_{AB} dV_t$ and $\frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0} dV_t = 0$. Thus

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} E(u) &= \int_{M_0} [h_{AB} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} |_{t=0} (g^{\alpha \overline{\beta}} \frac{\partial u^A}{\partial w_\alpha} \frac{\partial u^B}{\partial \overline{w}_\beta}) + (g^{\alpha \overline{\beta}} \frac{\partial u^A}{\partial w_\alpha} \frac{\partial u^B}{\partial \overline{w}_\beta}) |_{t=0} \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial t} |_{t=0}] dV_0 \\ &= \int_{M_0} h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j (\frac{\partial u^A}{\partial t}(0)) \partial_{\overline{k}} u^B_0 + \partial_j u^A_0 \partial_{\overline{k}} (\frac{\partial u^B}{\partial t}(0))] dV_0 \\ &- \int_{M_0} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 + \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} \frac{\partial u^A_0}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial u^B_0}{\partial \overline{z}\overline{k}} \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} \frac{\partial u^B_0}{\partial t} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \partial_j (g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{k}} u^B_0 h_{AB} g) \frac{\partial u^A_0}{\partial t} g^{-1} dV_0 - \int_{M_0} \partial_{\overline{k}} (g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_j u^A_0 h_{AB} g) \frac{\partial u^B_0}{\partial t} g^{-1} dV_0 \\ &- \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 + \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} \frac{\partial u^A_0}{\partial z_j} \frac{\partial u^B_0}{\partial \overline{z}\overline{k}} \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} \frac{\partial u^C_0}{\partial t} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} (2g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_j \partial_{\overline{k}} u^B_0 h_{AB} \frac{\partial u^A_0}{\partial t} + g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{k}} u^B_0 \partial_j u^C_0 \frac{\partial u^A_0}{\partial t} (\frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} + \frac{\partial h_{AC}}{\partial u_B} - \frac{\partial h_{BC}}{\partial u_A})) dV_0 \\ &- \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB} dV_0 \\ &= - \int_{M_0} \int_{M_0} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j u^A_0 \partial_i u^B_0 \varphi^i_{1\overline{k}}] h_{AB$$

Corollary 3.2.1. If $0 \in \mathcal{T}$ is a critical point of E then $\int_{M_0} \Lambda(\varphi_1 \sqcup H(u_0)) dV_0 = 0$ for any $\varphi_1 \in \mathbb{H}^{0,1}(M_0, T^{1,0}M_0)$. In particular, if M_0 is a Riemann surface and 0 is a critical point of E, then $H(u_0) = 0$.

3.3 Second variation of harmonic energy

Now we look at the second variation of \mathcal{E} along the base direction. We let $v = \frac{\partial u_t}{\partial t} \Big|_{t=0} \in \Gamma(u_0^*TN)$. To fix the notation, for any function $\rho \in C^{\infty}(M_0)$ we let $\Delta \rho = g^{i\bar{j}} \partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} \rho$. Now we let $K = (1 - \Delta)^{-1} (|\varphi_1|^2)$. To state the second variation formula we need some notation. We let Γ_{AB}^C be the Christoffel symbol of the metric h on N. Let $\nabla^{1,0}$ and $\nabla^{0,1}$ be the connection on u_0^*TN induced by the Levi-Civita
connection on N. Precisely, for any section $s = s^A \frac{\partial}{\partial y_A} \in \Gamma(u_0^*TN)$ we have

$$\nabla^{1,0}s = \left(\partial_i s^A + s^B \partial_i u_0^C \Gamma_{BC}^A\right) dz_i \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial y_A} \in \Gamma\left(\Omega^{1,0} M_0 \otimes u_0^* TN\right),$$

and

$$\nabla^{0,1}s = \left(\partial_{\overline{j}}s^A + s^B\partial_{\overline{j}}u_0^C\Gamma_{BC}^A\right)d\overline{z}_j \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial y_A} \in \Gamma\left(\Omega^{0,1}M_0 \otimes u_0^*TN\right).$$

Lemma 3.3.1. Let R_{ABCD} be the curvature tensor of the metric h on N, the complex Hessian of E is given by

$$\frac{\partial^{2} E}{\partial t \partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} = \int_{M_{0}} h_{AB} \partial_{i} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{B} g^{i\overline{j}} \Delta K \, dV_{0}
- \int_{M_{0}} h_{AB} \partial_{i} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{B} g^{i\overline{q}} g^{p\overline{j}} \partial_{p} \partial_{\overline{q}} K \, dV_{0}
- 2 \int_{M_{0}} g^{i\overline{j}} R_{ABCD} \partial_{i} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{C} v^{B} \overline{v}^{D} dV_{0}
+ 2 \int_{M_{0}} \|\nabla^{1,0} \overline{v} - \overline{\varphi}_{1} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} u_{0}\|^{2} dV_{0}.$$
(3.3.1)

Proof. Let $G^{AB} = g^{\alpha \overline{\beta}} \frac{\partial u^A}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial u^B}{\partial \overline{w_{\beta}}} = B^{j\overline{k}} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{jm} T_m u^A T_{\overline{k}} u^B$, then

$$E(u) = \int_{M_t} g^{\alpha \overline{\beta}} \frac{\partial u^A}{\partial w_\alpha} \frac{\partial u^B}{\partial \overline{w_\beta}} h_{AB} dV = \int_{M_t} G^{AB} h_{AB} dV_t.$$

Since $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}dV_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}|_{t=0}dV_t = 0$, we see

$$\frac{\partial^2 E(u)}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \Big|_{t=0} = \int_{M_0} \left[\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \Big|_{t=0} G^{AB} \right) h_{AB}(0) + G^{AB}(0) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \Big|_{t=0} h_{AB} + G^{AB}(0) h_{AB}(0) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \Big|_{t=0} \right] dV_t + \int_{M_0} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \Big|_{t=0} G^{AB} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} \Big|_{t=0} h_{AB} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} \Big|_{t=0} G^{AB} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \Big|_{t=0} h_{AB} \right] dV_t.$$

$$(3.3.2)$$

Now, let $\frac{\partial u^A}{\partial t}|_{t=0} = v^A$, $\frac{\partial u^A}{\partial \overline{t}}|_{t=0} = \overline{v}^A$ and $\frac{\partial^2 u^A}{\partial t \partial \overline{t}}|_{t=0} = w^A$, we also let

$$G^{AB} = g^{\alpha \overline{\beta}} \frac{\partial u^A}{\partial w_{\alpha}} \frac{\partial u^B}{\partial \overline{w_{\beta}}} = B^{j\overline{k}} (I - \varphi \overline{\varphi})^{jm} T_m u^A T_{\overline{k}} u^B, \qquad (3.3.3)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}G^{AB} = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}B^{j\overline{k}}\right)(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{jm}T_m u^A T_{\overline{k}}u^B
+ B^{j\overline{k}}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{jm}T_m u^A T_{\overline{k}}u^B
+ B^{j\overline{k}}(I - \varphi\overline{\varphi})^{jm}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(T_m u^A T_{\overline{k}}u^B),$$
(3.3.4)

Thus, we see

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} G^{AB} = g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j v^A \partial_{\overline{k}} u^B_0 + \partial_j u^A_0 (\partial_{\overline{k}} v^B - \varphi_{1\overline{k}} \partial_m u^B_0)], \qquad (3.3.5)$$

and,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0}G^{AB} = g^{j\overline{k}}[\partial_{\overline{k}}u_0^B(\partial_j\overline{v}^A - \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^l}\partial_{\overline{l}}u_0^A) + \partial_j u_0^A\partial_{\overline{k}}\overline{v}^B], \qquad (3.3.6)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \big|_{t=0} G^{AB} &= \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \big|_{t=0} (B^{j\bar{k}}) \partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B + g^{j\bar{k}} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \big|_{t=0} (I - \varphi \bar{\varphi})^{jm} \partial_m u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B \\ &+ g^{j\bar{k}} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \big|_{t=0} (T_m u^A T_{\bar{k}} u^B) \\ &= - g^{j\bar{l}} g^{p\bar{k}} \partial_p \partial_{\bar{t}} \big[(1 - \Delta)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2 \big] \partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B + g^{j\bar{k}} \varphi_{1\bar{l}}^m \overline{\varphi_{1\bar{j}}}^l \partial_m u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B \\ &+ g^{j\bar{k}} \big[(\partial_j w^A - \overline{\varphi_{1\bar{j}}}^l \partial_{\bar{t}} v^A) \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B + (\partial_{\bar{k}} w^\beta - \varphi_{1\bar{k}}^m \partial_m \overline{v}^B) \partial_j u_0^A \\ &+ \partial_j v^A \partial_{\bar{k}} \overline{v}^B + (\partial_j \overline{v}^A - \overline{\varphi_{1\bar{j}}}^l \partial_{\bar{t}} u_0^A) (\partial_{\bar{k}} v^\beta - \varphi_{1\bar{k}}^m \partial_m u_0^B) \big], \end{split}$$
(3.3.7)

and

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \bigg|_{t=0} h_{AB} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{t}} \left(\frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} \frac{\partial u^C}{\partial t} \right) \bigg|_{t=0} = \frac{\partial^2 h_{AB}}{\partial u_C \partial u_D} v^C \bar{v}^D + \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} w^C, \quad (3.3.8)$$

Let $K = (1 - \Delta)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2$. The volume expansion is written as

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \bigg|_{t=0} dV_t = \Delta((1-\Delta)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2) = \Delta K.$$
(3.3.9)

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^{2} E(u)}{\partial t \partial t} \bigg|_{t=0} &= \int_{M_{0}} \left[h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} \Delta K - h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} \partial_{\overline{\rho}} \partial_{\overline{k}} K \right] + h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \varphi_{1\overline{l}}^{m} \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}}^{\overline{l}} \partial_{m} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} \\ &+ h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \left[((\partial_{j} w^{A} - \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}}^{\overline{l}} \partial_{\overline{l}} u^{A}) \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} + (\partial_{\overline{k}} w^{\beta} - \varphi_{1\overline{k}}^{m} \partial_{m} \overline{w}^{B}) \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{A}) \\ &+ \partial_{\overline{j}} v^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{v}^{B} + (\partial_{\overline{j}} \overline{v}^{A} - \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}}^{\overline{l}} \partial_{\overline{l}} u_{0}^{A}) (\partial_{\overline{k}} v^{\beta} - \varphi_{1\overline{k}}^{m} \partial_{m} u_{0}^{B}) \right] \\ &+ g^{j\overline{k}} \left[\partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} \left\{ \frac{\partial^{2} h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C} \partial u_{D}} v^{C} \overline{v}^{D} + \frac{h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}} w^{C} \right) \right] \\ &+ g^{j\overline{k}} \left[\partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} + \partial_{\overline{j}} (u_{0}^{B}) (\partial_{\overline{j}} \overline{v}^{A} - \varphi_{1\overline{k}}^{T} \partial_{\overline{m}} u_{0}^{B}) \right] \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}} \overline{v}^{C} \\ &+ g^{j\overline{k}} \left[\partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{w}^{B} + \partial_{\overline{k}} (u_{0}^{B}) (\partial_{\overline{j}} \overline{v}^{A} - \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}}^{T} \partial_{\overline{l}} u_{0}^{A}) \right] \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}} v^{C} \\ &= \int_{M_{0}} \left[h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} + h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{k}} w^{B} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} \partial_{\overline{j}} \partial_{\overline{k}} w^{C} \right] dV_{0} \\ \\ &+ \int_{M_{0}} \left[h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{j}} w^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} + h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{k}} w^{B} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} - h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{T} \partial_{\overline{l}} u^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} \partial_{\overline{l}} \partial_{\overline{k}} w^{C} \right] dV_{0} \\ \\ &+ \int_{M_{0}} \left[h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \left[\partial_{\overline{j}} w^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{w}^{B} + (\partial_{\overline{j}} \overline{v}^{A} - \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{T}} \partial_{\overline{l}} u_{0}^{A}) (\partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{v}^{J} - \varphi_{1\overline{k}}^{T} \partial_{\overline{m}} u_{0}^{B}) \right] dV_{0} \\ \\ &+ \int_{M_{0}} g^{j\overline{k}} \left[\partial_{\overline{j}} w^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{w}^{B} \frac{\partial^{2} h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C} \partial u_{D}} v^{C} \overline{v}^{D} + \partial_{\overline{j}} v^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{w}^{B} \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}} \overline{v}^{C} \\ \\ &+ \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{A} (\partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{v}^{B} - \varphi_{1\overline{k}}^{T} \partial_{\overline{m}} u_{0}^{B}) \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C} \partial u_{D}} v^{C} \overline{v}^{C} + \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{w}^{B} \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_$$

By the harmonic map equation and integration by parts, the second integral in the last equality becomes

$$\int_{M_0} [h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_j w^A \partial_{\overline{k}} u_0^B + h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_{\overline{k}} w^B \partial_j u_0^A + g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\overline{k}} u_0^B \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} w^C] dV_0 = 0. \quad (3.3.11)$$

Using the symmetry $\varphi \lrcorner \omega_g = 0$, the third integral in the last equality is

$$\int_{M_{0}} [h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}}\varphi_{1\overline{l}}^{m}\overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{l}}\partial_{m}u_{0}^{A}\partial_{\overline{k}}u_{0}^{B} - h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}}\overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{l}}\partial_{\overline{l}}v^{A}\partial_{\overline{k}}u_{0}^{B} - h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}}\varphi_{1\overline{k}}^{m}\partial_{m}\overline{v}^{B}\partial_{j}u_{0}^{A}]dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M_{0}} h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}} [(\partial_{\overline{k}}v^{A} - \varphi_{1\overline{k}}^{m}\partial_{m}u_{0}^{A})(\partial_{j}\overline{v}^{B} - \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^{l}}\partial_{\overline{l}}u_{0}^{B}) - \partial_{\overline{k}}v^{A}\partial_{j}\overline{v}^{B}h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}}]dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M_{0}} [||\nabla^{1,0}\overline{v} - \overline{\varphi}_{\neg}\overline{\partial}u_{0}||^{2} - \partial_{\overline{k}}v^{A}\partial_{j}\overline{v}^{B}h_{AB}g^{j\overline{k}}]dV_{0},$$

$$(3.3.12)$$

and the fourth integral in the last equality is,

$$\int_{M_0} h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} [\partial_j v^A \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{v}^B + (\partial_j \overline{v}^A - \overline{\varphi_{1\overline{j}}^l} \partial_{\overline{l}} u_0^A) (\partial_{\overline{k}} v^\beta - \varphi_{1\overline{k}}^m \partial_m u_0^B)] dV_0$$

$$= \int_{M_0} [||\nabla^{1,0} \overline{v} - \overline{\varphi} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} u_0||^2 + \partial_j v^A \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{v}^B h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}}] dV_0.$$
(3.3.13)

For the last intergral in the last equality, using integration by parts, for two terms of it, we get

$$\int_{M_{0}} [g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_{j}v^{A}\partial_{\overline{k}}u_{0}^{B}\frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}}\overline{v}^{C} + g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_{j}u_{0}^{A}\partial_{\overline{k}}v^{B}\frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}}\overline{v}^{C}]dV_{0}$$

$$= -\int_{M_{0}} (2\Delta u_{0}^{A}v^{B}\overline{v}^{C}\frac{h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}} + g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_{\overline{k}}u_{0}^{B}\partial_{j}\overline{v}^{C}v^{A}\frac{h_{AB}}{\partial u_{C}} + g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_{j}u_{0}^{A}\partial_{\overline{k}}\overline{v}^{B}v^{C}\frac{h_{AC}}{\partial u_{B}})dV_{0}$$

$$-\int_{M_{0}} [g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_{j}u_{0}^{A}\partial_{\overline{k}}u_{0}^{B}\frac{\partial^{2}h_{BC}}{\partial u_{A}\partial u_{D}}v^{C}\overline{v}^{D} + g^{j\overline{k}}\partial_{j}u_{0}^{A}\partial_{\overline{k}}u_{0}^{B}\frac{\partial^{2}h_{AD}}{\partial u_{B}\partial u_{C}}v^{C}\overline{v}^{D}]dV_{0}.$$

$$(3.3.14)$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^2 E(u)}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}} \bigg|_{t=0} &= \int_{M_0} [h_{AB} g^{j\bar{k}} \partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B \Delta K - h_{AB} g^{j\bar{l}} g^{p\bar{k}} \partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B \partial_p \partial_{\bar{l}} K] dV_0 \\ &\quad + 2 \int_{M_0} ||\nabla^{1,0} \overline{v} - \overline{\varphi} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} u||^2 dV_0 \\ &\quad + \int_{M_0} (h_{AB} g^{j\bar{k}} \partial_j v^A \partial_{\bar{k}} \overline{v}^B - h_{AB} g^{j\bar{k}} \partial_j \overline{v}^B \partial_{\bar{k}} v^A) dV_0 \\ &\quad + \int_{M} g^{j\bar{k}} \partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B v^C \overline{v}^D [\frac{\partial^2 h_{AB}}{\partial u_C \partial u_D} - \frac{\partial^2 h_{BC}}{\partial u_A \partial u_D} - \frac{\partial^2 h_{AD}}{\partial u_B \partial u_C}] dV_0 \\ &\quad - \int_{M_0} (2\Delta u_0^A v^B \overline{v}^C \frac{h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} + g^{j\bar{k}} \partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} \overline{v}^B v^C \frac{h_{AC}}{\partial u_B} + g^{j\bar{k}} \partial_j \overline{v}^A \partial_{\bar{k}} \overline{u}_0^B v^C \frac{h_{BC}}{\partial u_C}) dV_0 \\ &\quad + \int_{M_0} g^{j\bar{k}} [(\partial_j u_0^A \partial_{\bar{k}} \overline{v}^B + \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B \partial_j \overline{v}^A - \partial_{\bar{k}} u_0^B \overline{\varphi}_{1\bar{j}}^I \partial_{\bar{l}} u_0^A) v^C - \partial_j u_0^A \varphi_{1\bar{k}}^m \partial_m u_0^B \overline{v}^C] \frac{\partial h_{AB}}{\partial u_C} dV_0. \end{split}$$

$$(3.3.15)$$

Performing integration by parts twice on the term $\int_{M_0} (h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_j v^A \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{v}^B) dV_0$, we get

$$\int_{M_{0}} h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{j} v^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} \overline{v}^{B} dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M_{0}} \left[g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} v^{C} \overline{v}^{D} \frac{\partial^{2} h_{DC}}{\partial u_{A} \partial u_{B}} + h_{AB} g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{\overline{k}} v^{A} \partial_{j} \overline{v}^{B} \right] dV_{0} \qquad (3.3.16)$$

$$+ \int_{M_{0}} \left[\Delta u_{0}^{A} v^{B} \overline{v}^{C} \frac{\partial h_{BC}}{\partial u_{A}} + g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{j} \overline{v}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u_{0}^{B} v^{C} \frac{h_{AC}}{\partial u_{B}} + g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} v^{B} \overline{v}^{C} \frac{h_{BC}}{\partial u_{A}} \right] dV_{0}.$$

Thus we obtain

$$\frac{\partial^{2} E(u)}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}}\Big|_{t=0} = \int_{M_{0}} h_{AB} \Big[g^{j\bar{k}} \partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\bar{k}} u_{0}^{B} \Delta K - h_{AB} g^{j\bar{l}} g^{p\bar{k}} \partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\bar{k}} u_{0}^{B} \partial_{p} \partial_{\bar{l}} K \Big] dV_{0}
+ 2 \int_{M_{0}} ||\nabla^{1,0} \bar{v} - \bar{\varphi} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} u_{0}||^{2} dV_{0} - \int_{M_{0}} R_{ABCD} \partial_{j} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\bar{k}} u_{0}^{C} v^{B} \bar{v}^{D} dV_{0}.$$
(3.3.17)

Repeatedly applying integration by parts for the first two terms, we obtain the pluri-subharmonicity of the energy.

Theorem 3.3.1. The second variation of E is

$$\frac{\partial^{2} E}{\partial t \partial \overline{t}}\Big|_{t=0} = -\int_{M_{0}} R_{ABCD} \partial_{i} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{C} \partial_{p} u_{0}^{B} \partial_{\overline{q}} u_{0}^{D} g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} K \, dV_{0}
+ \int_{M_{0}} \|\nabla^{1,0} \overline{\partial} u_{0}\|^{2} K \, dV_{0}
- 2 \int_{M_{0}} g^{i\overline{j}} R_{ABCD} \partial_{i} u_{0}^{A} \partial_{\overline{j}} u_{0}^{C} v^{B} \overline{v}^{D} dV_{0}
+ 2 \int_{M_{0}} \|\nabla^{1,0} \overline{v} - \overline{\varphi}_{1} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} u_{0}\|^{2} dV_{0}.$$
(3.3.18)

In particular, if we assume that the curvature of (N, h) is Hermitian nonpositive, namely

$$R(X, Y, \overline{X}, \overline{Y}) \le 0$$

for all $X, Y \in T^{\mathbb{C}}N$. (For example when (N, h) is a Kähler manifold of nonpositive Riemannian sectional curvature.) Then E is a pluri-subharmonic function on the Teichmüller space \mathcal{T} .

Proof. In the following proof, we use notation $\partial_i u_0 = u_i$, and so on. We analyze term by term in equation (3.3.17),

$$\int_{M} h_{AB} g^{i\bar{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} \Delta K dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} h_{AB} g^{i\bar{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{p\bar{q}} K_{p\bar{q}} dV_{0}$$

$$= -\int_{M} \partial_{p} (h_{AB} g^{i\bar{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B}) g^{p\bar{q}} K_{\bar{q}} dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} g^{p\bar{q}} \partial_{\bar{q}} \partial_{p} (h_{AB} g^{i\bar{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B}) K dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} [\partial_{\bar{q}} \partial_{p} (h_{AB}) u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{j}} g^{p\bar{q}} K + g^{p\bar{q}} h_{AB} \partial_{\bar{q}} \partial_{p} (g^{i\bar{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B}) K] dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} \partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} u_{p}^{C} u_{\bar{q}}^{D} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{j}} g^{p\bar{q}} K + \int_{M} h_{AB} \partial_{\bar{q}} \partial_{p} (g^{i\bar{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B}) g^{p\bar{q}} K dV_{0}.$$
(3.3.19)

$$\int_{M} h_{AB} g^{i\bar{l}} g^{p\bar{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} \partial_{p} \partial_{\bar{l}} K dV_{0}$$

$$= -\int_{M} \partial_{p} (h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{l}}) g^{p\bar{j}} K_{\bar{l}} dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} \partial_{\bar{l}} [\partial_{p} (h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{l}}) g^{p\bar{j}} g] K g^{-1} dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} [\partial_{\bar{l}} \partial_{p} (h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{l}}) g^{p\bar{j}} K + \partial_{p} (h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{l}}) \partial_{\bar{l}} (gg^{p\bar{j}}) g^{-1} K] dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} [\partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} u_{p}^{C} u_{\bar{l}}^{D} g^{i\bar{l}} g^{p\bar{j}} K + h_{AB} \partial_{\bar{l}} \partial_{p} (u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{l}}) g^{p\bar{j}} K + h_{AB} \partial_{p} (u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{l}}) \partial_{\bar{l}} (gg^{p\bar{j}}) g^{-1} K] dV_{0}.$$
(3.3.20)

Therefore, the first integral in the equation (3.3.17) is

$$\int_{M} h_{AB} [g^{j\overline{k}} \partial_{j} u^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u^{B} \Delta K - h_{AB} g^{j\overline{l}} g^{p\overline{k}} \partial_{j} u^{A} \partial_{\overline{k}} u^{B} \partial_{p} \partial_{\overline{l}} K] dV_{0}$$

$$= \int_{M} \partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} u^{A}_{i} u^{B}_{\overline{j}} u^{C}_{p} u^{D}_{\overline{q}} (g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} - g^{i\overline{q}} g^{p\overline{j}}) K dV_{0}$$

$$+ \int_{M} \left[h_{AB} \partial_{\overline{q}} \partial_{p} (g^{i\overline{j}} u^{A}_{i} u^{B}_{\overline{j}}) g^{p\overline{q}} K \right] dV_{0}$$

$$- \int_{M} \left[h_{AB} \partial_{\overline{l}} (\partial_{p} (u^{A}_{i} u^{B}_{\overline{j}} g^{i\overline{l}}) g^{p\overline{j}} g) g^{-1} K \right] dV_{0}.$$
(3.3.21)

Now, we compute the first term in equation (3.3.21),

$$\begin{split} &\int_{M} \partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{B} u_{p}^{C} u_{\overline{q}}^{D} (g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} - g^{i\overline{q}} g^{p\overline{j}}) K dV_{0} \\ &= \int_{M} (\partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{B} u_{p}^{C} u_{\overline{q}}^{D} g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} - \partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{B} u_{p}^{C} u_{\overline{q}}^{D} g^{i\overline{q}} g^{p\overline{j}}) K dV_{0} \\ &= \int_{M} (\partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} - \partial_{B} \partial_{C} h_{AD}) \partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{B} u_{p}^{C} u_{\overline{q}}^{D} g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} K dV_{0} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{M} (\partial_{D} \partial_{C} h_{AB} + \partial_{B} \partial_{A} h_{CD} - \partial_{B} \partial_{C} h_{AD} - \partial_{A} \partial_{D} h_{BC}) u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{B} u_{p}^{C} u_{\overline{q}}^{D} g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} K dV_{0} \\ &= \int_{M} R_{ACDB} u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{B} u_{p}^{C} u_{\overline{q}}^{D} g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} K dV_{0} \\ &= - \int_{M} R_{ABCD} u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{C} u_{p}^{B} u_{\overline{q}}^{D} g^{i\overline{j}} g^{p\overline{q}} K dV_{0}. \end{split}$$

$$(3.3.22)$$

The second term in equation (3.3.21) is

$$\int_{M} \left[h_{AB} \partial_{\overline{q}} \partial_{p} (g^{i\overline{j}} u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{j}}^{B}) g^{p\overline{q}} K \right] dV_{0}$$

$$= \sum_{A} \int_{M} \nabla_{\overline{p}} \nabla_{p} (u_{i}^{A} u_{\overline{i}}^{A}) K dV_{0}$$

$$= \sum_{A} \int_{M} (\nabla_{\overline{p}} \nabla_{p} \nabla_{i} u^{A} \nabla_{\overline{i}} u^{A} + |\nabla \nabla u^{A}|^{2} + |\nabla \overline{\nabla} u^{A}|^{2} + \nabla_{\overline{p}} \nabla p \nabla_{\overline{i}} u^{A}) K dV_{0},$$
(3.3.23)

and the last integral in equation (3.3.21) is

$$\int_{M} \left[h_{AB} \partial_{\bar{l}} (\partial_{p} (u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{j}}^{B} g^{i\bar{l}}) g^{p\bar{j}} g) g^{-1} K \right] dV_{0}$$

$$= \sum_{A} \int_{M} \nabla_{\bar{i}} \nabla_{p} (u_{i}^{A} u_{\bar{p}}^{A}) K dV_{0}$$

$$= \sum_{A} \int_{M} (\nabla_{\bar{i}} \nabla_{p} \nabla_{i} u^{A} \nabla_{\bar{p}} u^{A} + |\nabla \nabla u^{A}|^{2}) K dV_{0}$$

$$= \sum_{A} \int (\nabla_{\bar{p}} \nabla_{i} \nabla_{p} u^{A} \nabla_{\bar{i}} u^{A} + |\nabla \nabla u^{A}|^{2}) K) dV_{0}.$$
(3.3.24)

Hence, by above Lemma 3.3.1,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial^2 E(u)}{\partial t \partial \bar{t}}|_{t=0} &= -\sum_{ABCD} \int_M (R_{ABCD} u_i^A u_{\bar{j}}^C u_p^B u_{\bar{q}}^D g^{i\bar{j}} g^{p\bar{q}} + 2R_{ABCD} u_i^A u_{\bar{j}}^C v^B \bar{v}^D g^{i\bar{j}}) K dV_0 \\ &+ \sum_A \int_M |\nabla \overline{\nabla} u^A|^2 K dV + 2 \int_M ||\nabla^{1,0} \overline{v} - \overline{\varphi_1} \lrcorner \overline{\partial} u||^2 dV_0, \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.3.25)$$

 $K = (1 - \Delta)^{-1} |\varphi_1|^2$, so $\Delta K = K - |\varphi_1|^2$. By the maximum principal, we know $K \ge 0$. Combining with the curvature assumption on the target manifold, we conclude that $E(u_t)$ is pluri-subharmonic on the Teichmüller space \mathcal{T} .

Bibliography

- A. Besse, *Einstein manifolds*, Reprint of the 1987 edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, xii+516 pp. Berlin, 2008.
- [2] E. Calabi, The space of Kähler metrics, Proc. Internat. Congress Math. Amsterdam 2, 206-207, 1954.
- [3] E. Calabi, On Kähler manifolds with vanishing canonical class, Algebraic geometry and topology. A symposium in honor of S. Lefschetz, 78-89. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1957.
- [4] H. D. Cao, Deformation of Kähler metrics to Kähler-Einstein metrics on compact Kähler manifolds, Invent. Math. 81, no. 2, 359-372, 1985.
- [5] H.-D. Cao, X. Sun, Y. Zhang, On the Deformation of Fano Kähler-Einstein Manifolds, preprint, 2013.
- [6] D. Catlin, The Bergman kernel and a theorem of Tian, Analysis and geometry in several complex variables (Katata, 1997), Trends Math., 1-23, Birkh auser Boston, Boston, MA, 1999.
- [7] A. Futaki, Kähler-Einstein Metrics and Integral Invariants, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1314. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988.
- [8] J. Morrow and K. Kodaira, Complex Manifolds, Reprint of the 1971 edition with errata. AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, x+194 pp. 2006.

- [9] N. Koiso, *Einstein metrics and complex structure*, Invent. Math. 73, 71-106, 1983.
- [10] K. Kodaira, D. C. Spencer, On deformations of complex analytic structures. I, II. Ann. of Math. (2) 67, 328-466, 1958.
- [11] K. Kodaira, D. C. Spencer, Existence of complex structure on a differentiable family of deformations of compact complex manifolds. Ann. of Math. (2) 70, 145-166, 1959.
- [12] M. Kuranishi, On deformations of compact complex structures. Proc. Internat. Congr. Mathematicians (Stockholm, 1962) 357-359, Inst. Mittag-Leffler, Djursholm 1963.
- [13] G. Schumacher, The curvature of the Petersson-Weil metric on the moduli space of Kähler-Einstein manifolds. Complex analysis and geometry, 339-354, Univ. Ser. Math., Plenum, New York, 1993.
- [14] Y.T. Siu, Curvature of the Weil-Petersson metric in the moduli space of compact Kähler-Einstein manifolds of negative first Chern class, Contributions to several complex variables, Aspects Math., E9, 261-298. Vieweg, Braunschweig, 1986.
- [15] X. Sun, Deformation of canonical metrics I, Asian J. Math. 16 (2012), no. 1, 141-155.
- [16] X. Sun and S.T. Yau, Deformation of Kähler-Einstein metrics, Surveys in geometric analysis and relativity, 467-489, Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), 20, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2011.
- [17] G. Tian, On a set of polarized Kähler metrics on algebraic manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 32, no. 1, 99-130, 1990.
- [18] A. N. Todorov, The Weil-Petersson geometry of the moduli space of $SU(n \ge 3)$ (Calabi-Yau) manifolds. I, comm. Math. Phys., 126:2, 325-346, 1989.

- [19] S.T. Yau, On the Ricci curvature of a compact Kähler manifold and the complex Monge – Ampère equation. I., Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 31, no. 3, 339-411, 1978.
- [20] S. Zelditch, Szegő kernels and a theorem of Tian, Internat. Math. Res. Notices 6, 317-331, 1998.

Curriculum Vitae

Yingying Zhang

Email: yiz308@lehigh.edu Office phone: (610) 758-3747 Cell phone: (484)547-8778 Department of Mathematics Lehigh University 14 E. Packer Ave. Bethlehem, PA 18015

Research interests

I am interested in Geometric Analysis and Complex Geometry, especially Deformation theory, Moduli Space, Geometric Flows, and Eigenvalue problems.

Education

Lehigh University	Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, USA
2008-2014. (Expected in May, 2014)	
Ph.D., Mathematics.	
Thesis Topic: Geometric Quantization of	f Classical Metrics on the Moduli
Space of Canonical Metrics	
Advisors: Prof. Huai-Dong Cao and Pro	of. Xiaofeng Sun.
Zhejiang University	Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China
2005-2008	
Graduate student, Mathematics.	
Linyi Normal University	Linyi, Shandong, China
2001-2005	
B.S., Mathematics and Applied Mathem	natics

Publications and Preprints

- On the Structure of Gradient Yamabe Solitons
 (with Huai-Dong Cao and Xiaofeng Sun), Math. Res. Lett. 19 (2012), no.04, 767-774.
- Inequalities for Eigenvalues of the Weighted Hodge Laplacian (with Daguang Chen), submitted 2013.
- On the Deformation of Fano Kähler-Einstein Manifold (with Huai-Dong Cao and Xiaofeng Sun), preprint 2013.

Awards

- College of Arts and Sciences Summer Research Fellowship, Lehigh University, June 2012.
- Strohl Dissertation Fellowship, Lehigh University, May 2013–May 2014.

Presentations

- 1. Lehigh University, Graduate student seminar, January 2011.
- 2. Lehigh University, Lehigh University Geometry and Topology Conference, May 2012.
- University of Maryland, Baltimore County, AMS Spring Eastern Sectional Meeting, March 2014.

Teaching experience

Department of Mathematics, Lehigh University, PA

Instructor

MATH 076, Calculus I, Part B

Spring 2013

Teaching Assistant

MATH 450, Riemannian Geometry	Spring 2013
MATH 023, Calculus III	Spring and Fall 2012
MATH 022, Calculus II	Fall 2010 and Spring 2011
MATH 021, Calculus I	Fall 2009 and Fall 2011

References

1. Huai-Dong Cao	Lehigh University
2. Xiaofeng Sun	Lehigh University
3. Valentino Tosatti	Northwestern University
4. Terrence Napier (teaching letter)	Lehigh University